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Dear friends,

After ten years of reporting annually on environmental protec-
tion and three years of CSR reporting, let me present you with
our first triple bottom line sustainability report. 

As a socially responsible, vertically integrated oil corporation
with a leading role in the oil and gas markets of Southeast
Europe, we are committed to constantly improving our busi-
ness operations, as well as perfecting the efficiency and quali-
ty of our products and services. Management of our business
is traditionally based on integrity, transparency and honesty.

Our understanding of social, environmental and ethical issues and
fulfilment of our stakeholders’ demands has helped us gain their
trust. In concern for our stakeholders’ wellbeing, we contribute to
sustainable economic development by closely co-operating with
our employees, the local community and society at large. We are
constantly improving our working environment, and implement-
ing modern educational/training programs for our employees. We
also aid our host communities in their development.

As in past years, in 2006 INA received a number of prizes and
recognitions. Among them we were especially proud to receive
a certificate of recognition for our contribution to the develop-
ment of the town of Ilok.

Foreword from the President

of the Management Board
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In 2006, INA’s shares were listed on the Zagreb and London
Stock Exchanges. The INA-MOL consortium signed an agree-
ment with Energopetrol for Energopetrol’s recapitalization,
thus acquiring a 67% share of  the company. We also launched
the SAP system in 2006, currently the most advanced software
in the world for oil activities and operations.

Our sales revenue marked a record growth of 11 percent more
than in 2005, and amounted to HRK 23,434 million. Core busi-
ness profit declined by HRK 436 million and amounted to HRK
974 million, due to capped natural gas prices and lower refin-
ery margins of the domestic market.

Presently, implementation is underway of a number of proj-
ects directly or indirectly associated with environmental pro-
tection. The aim of these projects is to upgrade eco-efficiency
of our operations by reducing pollutant emissions into the sur-
roundings of all our production, refining, storage, and retail
facilities, as well as improve functionality and safe operation
of the processing plants, rationalize the use of energy, raw
materials, and other input materials for the production of low-
sulphur diesel fuels and petrol. 

In 2006, we registered 17 unforeseen events with environmen-
tal impact, which is 47% less than in the previous year.

We will be investing approximately US$1.1 billion into the mod-
ernization of our refineries in order to protect the environment,
produce EURO V quality fuels, and increase refining capacity. 

The INA 2006 Sustainability Report has been prepared using
the latest GRI G3 Guidelines and has been reviewed independ-
ently. It contains relevant information reflecting INA’s signifi-
cant economic, environmental and social impacts that may
influence our stakeholders’ judgement or decisions.

Tomislav DragiËeviÊ, DSc
President of the INA d.d. Management Board
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1. Strategy and Analysis 

Strategic Goals

Together with our subsidiary companies, INA-Industrija nafte d.d.
is one of the largest vertically integrated groups in the oil industry
of Southeast Europe measured by total proved reserves and hydro-
carbon production, refining capacity, product sales and revenue,
while our total revenue makes us the leading economic entity in
Croatia. According to the principle of newly created value, in 2006
INA took second place among 500 top Croatian companies. 

Our long-term strategic goal is to become a profitable leader in
the market of top quality oil products in Southeast Europe fol-
lowing the principles of sustainable development. 

To that end, our mid- to long-term strategic priorities are
focused on the following key topics:
• by the year 2010 reach profits comparable to western 

industry leaders, 

• in co-operation with our strategic partner, MOL, become 
leader in top-quality oil products in Southeast Europe.

INA’s short- to mid-term strategic goals are to increase reserves
and hydrocarbon production in Croatia and abroad, modernize
our refining capacities in order to facilitate production of EU-
quality fuels and meet environmental requirements, attain
regional leadership in oil-product output and sales, restructure
our domestic retail network, expand our retail network in the
region, optimize business by cutting costs, and set up the SAP
system for business monitoring and planning. 

The long-term sustainable growth of our oil and gas produc-
tion and sales is based on exploration and production projects
in Croatia and abroad, as well as EOR projects in Croatia with
the aim to increase reserves and hydrocarbon production,
while the long-term sustainability of our oil-product output
and sales is based on the high growth rate of the regional
energy demand. 

In the previous reporting period, INA faced increased world oil
prices caused by the Middle East crisis, a growing world
demand for oil and oil products due to enhanced demand in
highly populated Asian countries, and a series of hurricanes in
the Gulf of Mexico.   

Company Profile



INA failed to soften the impact of the abrupt oil price increase in
2006 and the record crude oil prices of almost $80/bbl, with an
adequate domestic price growth of oil and gas due to the
changed oil-pricing formula for the domestic market, while due
to technological outdatedness, INA also failed to realize the pos-
itive effects of growing refinery margins in export markets.

INA has started implementation of its business goals in
respect of regional sales and business improvement, the most
significant being: acquisition of a majority share in
Energopetrol of Bosnia & Herzegovina as part of the INA-MOL
consortium; increased hydrocarbon exploration and produc-
tion in Syria and Egypt resulting in production growth; intensi-
fied modernization of our refining capacities; completion of
the SAP project, and other cost-cutting projects.  In addition,
we have launched several strategic projects, such as: retail net-
work restructuring, wholesale improvement, optimization of
logistics. The projects focus on elevating the quality of socially
responsible performance. Consolidation of the regional oil
industry, as well as accession into regional and EU integrations
will have considerable influence on the liberalization of the oil-
products market and INA’s positioning, whereas construction
of oil and gas pipelines from Russia and the Caspian region will
offer us the opportunity to diversify our energy supply routes.  

1.2   Key impacts, risks, opportunities

INA is an influential participant in both the domestic and region-
al markets, where we sell oil products and gas from our own pro-
duction as well as imported products. Our key influence is on the
domestic market, with a 75% share in total oil-product sales. We
cover the entire natural gas demand from domestic production
(60%) and import. In 2006, INA Group realized a sales revenue of
US$18,479 million, and a core business profit of US$170 million.

In the broader context, INA Group’s financial results represent
a significant contribution to domestic economy and national
income. Our business relations with economic and state enti-
ties also greatly influence the status of domestic economy.

INA also plays an important role in the economy when it
comes to employment. The ten thousand citizens of Croatia
that we employ are provided a secure living, while internal reg-
ulations guarantee our workers a higher level of workers’
rights than defined by national law. 

We at INA are well aware that our business operations and
supporting facilities may, in various ways, impact the natural
or man-made environments such as the air, water, soil, urban
or rural communities, as well as directly or indirectly impact
human health and the quality of living, which is why we
undertake to uphold national law and implement internation-
ally recognized standards. Our operations comply with nation-
al regulations and EU directives on competition protection.

In the segment of exploration and production, INA deals with all
the challenges associated with the mere nature of these activi-
ties, such as the high risk of investments, earnings, risks concern-
ing the health of our workers, preservation of the environment,
etc. In regard to current legislation and our role as oil and gas sup-
plier of the domestic market, INA-Group’s financial performance
will be influenced considerably with the energy market’s liberal-
ization, especially with the regulated prices of natural gas. 

In production and sales, our greatest challenge is the regula-
tion of the domestic market in regard to the quality and prices
of our products, implying modernization of our refinery capac-
ities for production of EU quality fuels. Refinery modernization
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as the key priority in assuring sustainable development, with an
estimated investment of approx. US$1.1 billion, is an essential
requirement for increasing our oil-products sales volume on both
the domestic and regional markets. By the year 2015, the expect-
ed sales growth rate will allow profitable results, with core busi-
ness revenue of HRK 9 billion, and considerable improvement in
the key financial parameters of our performance.     

Investments into hydrocarbon exploration and production are
also a business priority of INA. Our Northern Adriatic projects
represent the most important investments in the domestic
natural gas market. In regard to fuel sales through our own
retail network, major investments are required in the modern-
ization of our petrol stations in order to secure competitiveness.  

Capital investments in 2006 reached HRK 850 million - HRK
239 million more than the previous year - mainly due to the
HRK 130 million invested into the modernization of the Sisak
Refinery, and reconstruction/revamp of the vacuum distilla-
tion, isomerization, and FCC plants of the Rijeka Refinery as
part of the modernization project. 

A number of factors influence our business, of which the glob-
al factors are associated with the variable prices of crude oil
and natural gas.

Regulations and government interventions, which are also
subject to changes, additionally influence our business. INA is
thus required to sell natural gas domestically at regulated
prices that are lower than in foreign markets, which has a sig-
nificant negative effect on our profit, especially in business
conditions regarding gas price growth in foreign markets. The
regulation of fuel prices, i.e. the amended Fuel Pricing Decree
defining the maximum prices of individual fuels, also affected our
core business profit in 2006, due to high world prices of crude.

The business risks fully or partially under the influence of INA
Group are associated with the risks regarding timely and suc-
cessful refinery modernization enabling production of EU-
quality fuels, as well as with the numerous risks that accompa-
ny exploration drilling and well development.  

In the segment of fuel retail, the restructuring and moderniza-
tion of our retail network may be prolonged and/or be less



effective than expected. In all our fields of activity we face
competition from other oil and gas companies.

The growing energy demand in Croatia and throughout Southeast
Europe is an opportunity for us to implement our projects of oil and
gas exploration, development and production, refinery moderniza-
tion, retail network restructuring, cost cutting, and achieve sustain-
able development and create additional values. 

Sustainability targets of INA d.d.
• Refinery modernization

INA’s absolute priority is the modernization of its two 
refineries, one in the continental part and one on the coast 
of Croatia, which will enable production of EU-quality fuels 
and reduce pollutant emissions from our production capacities.
From 2006 to 2011, INA plans to invest approx. US$ 1.1billion
into the Rijeka and Sisak refineries. 

• Logistics optimization

INA’s goal is to achieve savings of at least HRK 170million in
the period from 2006 to 2008 by rationalizing our network 
of terminals and storage facilities, outsourcing road trans-

portation services, computerizing terminals, organizational 
restructuring, and measuring business results.   

• Retail network expansion and modernization

In Croatia, we have currently 7 first-class petrol stations 
under construction, and in 2007 we plan to construct another
4 first-class petrol stations.

The INA-MOL consortium signed an agreement with 
Energopetrol and the government of Bosnia & Herzegovina
for Energopetrol’s recapitalization, thus acquiring a 67% 
share in the company (65 petrol stations in Bosnia & 
Herzegovina). The transaction will be finalized in 2007. 

INA is negotiating to reclaim its seized property and gain 
control over Krajinapetrol and 14 of its petrol stations in the
Republic of Srpska in Bosnia & Herzegovina.

• Implementation of the cost-cutting and efficiency improvement program

Based on analyses carried out so far, INA aims to achieve 
additional annual savings of approx. HRK 70million upon 
implementation of the entire project, expected by the end of
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12Strategy and Analysis

2008. The main areas where improvements are possible 
include thermal energy efficiency, the procurement process,
maintenance, use of the SAP system, and HSE performance.  

• Corporate governance upgrade 

Corporate governance will improve with the improvement 
of our business management system in accordance with 
internationally recognized standards. 

• Strengthening of corporate culture and communication

We will continue improving our employee evaluation system,
training, and career development with the aim to stimulate
a positive working atmosphere, a sense of belonging and 
fellowship. Internal and external communication will also 
be improved systematically.

• Aiding communities

In 2007, INA plans to donate HRK 7 million to humanitarian,
cultural, educational, sports, environmental, healthcare, and
scientific projects. Our donations and sponsorships will be 
granted by public competition. Implementation of our 
“Volunteers’ Club” will encourage our employees to volun-

teer their time and skills to social, healthcare, environmental,
and educational campaigns.

INA employees will participate actively in government and 
non-government organizations, as well as in work groups for
preparation of EU accession negotiations. 

• Strengthening partnership relations

In order to build trust and gain the reputation of a socially 
responsible company, we will continue to strengthen our 
partnership with all our key stakeholders on a mutually 
beneficial, win-win basis.

• Regular annual sustainability reporting

Apart from our long tradition in financial reporting, INA also reports
on environmental protection and corporate social responsibility.

Our membership in the UN Global Compact commits us to 
promote the human rights, workers’ rights, environmental 
protection, and anti-corruption principles in our everyday 
operation, as well as report to our stakeholders on an annual
basis on the implementation of sustainability principles.  



2. Organizational profile of INA d.d.

2.1. 

INA-Industrija nafte d.d. Zagreb was founded on January 1,
1964 by the integration of Naftaplin (oil and gas exploration
and production company) and the Rijeka and Sisak Refineries.
By the end of that decade, INA had expanded to include the
Zagreb Refinery, Trade (for domestic trade), the petrochemical
plants OKI and DINA, and the Kutina mineral fertiliser plant. In
1993, INA became a joint-stock company.

INA-Group comprises INA, d.d. as the parent company, and
several fully or partly owned companies. The Group is Croatia’s
leader in oil and gas exploration, production, refining, and dis-
tribution.   

2.2 INA Products and Services

• Oil and gas exploration and production in Croatia 
and abroad.  

• Natural gas import, and wholesale of imported and 
domestic gas to industrial consumers and distributors. 

• Oil refining in the Rijeka and Sisak refineries. 

• Oil products retail. 

• Crude oil and products trading.
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14Organizational profile of INA d.d.

Product portfolio - fuels and other products

LIQUEFIED LPG commercial 

PETROLEUM GAS propan-butan mix

auto LPG 

special - purpose LPG 

VIRGIN NAPHTHA

PETROL INA EUROSUPER 95 

INA SUPER 95 

INA SUPER PLUS 98 

DIESEL FUELS INA EURODIESEL 

INA DIESEL 

JET FUEL

KEROSENE industrial kerosene 

heating kerosene 

well kerosene 

FUEL OILS fuel oil extra light 

fuel oil light 

fuel oil medium 

fuel oil heavy 

MARINE FUELS marine distillate fuels

marine residual fuels 

OTHER PRODUCTS

BITUMEN road construction bitumen 

industrial bitumen 

polymer bitumen 

COKE green petroleum coke 

calcined petroleum coke - regular

calcined petroleum coke - premium 

LIQUID SULPHUR 



2.3 Operational structure of INA, d.d.
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INA - Group comprises of:
Oil & Gas Exploration and production
Refining and Wholesale
Rijeka and Sisak Fuel Refineries
Rijeka Lubricant Refinery
Retail - 407 petrol stations in our 
ownership and 18 on lease in 
Croatia, and 47 petrol stations in 
neighbouring countries

Provision of drilling, workover and 
other services associated with 
onshore and offshore exploration 
and production

Provision of technical services in 
construction of pipelines, processing 
plants and maintenance thereof

Production and marketing of 
lubricants

LPG production and marketing

Management of tourist resorts 
owned by INA

Car and boat rentals

Health protection and safety

2.4 

INA ’s head office is located in Zagreb, Avenija V. Holjevca
10, Croatia.

2.5

INA exploration and production operations are mainly focused
onshore and offshore Croatia, with a growing presence in
countries of the Middle East, and northern and western Africa.
Refining is located in Croatia, while INA petrol stations are
spread throughout Croatia and the neighbouring countries.



2.6 Ownership structure

2.7 INA operations 

• Oil & gas exploration and production primarily onshore and
offshore Croatia, as well as abroad in Angola, Egypt, Syria, 
and Namibia;

• Import of natural gas from Russia, and wholesale of imported
and domestic natural gas to industrial consumers and local 
distributors;

• Oil refining in the Rijeka and Sisak refineries, lubricant pro-
duction in the Rijeka and Zagreb lubricant plants;

• Fuel and associated products retail through a chain of 407 
INA-owned petrol stations, 18 subsidiary-owned petrol 
stations in Croatia, and 47 petrol stations in the neighbouring
countries;  

• Crude oil and oil products trading through a network of 
international subsidiary companies and branches, mainly in
London, Ljubljana, Sarajevo, and Moscow;

• Provision of drilling, workover and other services associated
with onshore and offshore exploration and production 
through our subsidiary company Crosco d.o.o.

2.8

On December 31, 2006, INA Group had 15,875 employees, while
INA-d.d. had 10,183 employees. 

In 2006, INA Group achieved a sales revenue of HRK 23.4 bil-
lion (an increase of 11% compared to 2005); however, the core
business profit of HRK 974 million or US$ 167 million was
30% less than in 2005. The reduced core business profit (HRK
436 million less than in 2005) is mainly attributed to relative-
ly low margins, as well as unfavourable refining efficiency
and quality due to the fact that INA refineries have not yet
been modernized.  

17 Company Profile

By number of shares

Government of Croatia 5,180,367 (51.8%)

MOL 2,500,001 (25% + 1)

War veterans 700,000 (7%)

ZagrebaËka banka d.d./Citibank N.A. 368,725 (3.7%)

Publicly distributed shares (small investors) - (less than 2% ) 1,250,907 (12.5%)

Total 10,000,000
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INA sales in 2006:
• 216,000 tons of crude
• 4,816,000 tons of oil products
• 2,739,000,000 m3 of natural gas

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES m HRK
A.1. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 11,569

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 11,569

Registered capital 9,000

Reserves 2,018

Retained earnings or loss brought forward 551

B.1. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,695
Long-term loans 1,372

Other non-current liabilities 153

Provisions 1,170

C.1. CURRENT LIABILITIES 6,029
Bank loans and securities 666

Intercompany payables 2,541

Trade payables 1,935

Taxes and contributions 479

Other current liabilities 261

Provisions 148

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES - TOTAL (A.1+B.1+C.1) 20,293

INA d.d. Total Equity & Liabilities Structure (as of Dec 31, 2006)



2.9

In the Retail Development and Maintenance Sector, changes in
2006 included:
• Construction and opening of the BaËve petrol station 

(Dec 18, 2006);

• Reconstruction of petrol stations Slavonski Brod-OsjeËka 
(Oct 31, 2006), and Novalja-©pital (Feb 02, 2007);

• Opening of the SpaËva-Lubanj petrol station (May 03, 2007);

• Petrol stations shut down due to reconstruction, started 
with work in 2007: 

- Kneæevi Vinogradi
- –akovo-Nazorova
- Labin
- Sisak-ZagrebaËka
- Koπka

• Partial reconstruction: 
- Starigrad-Paklenica - in operation since Feb 06, 2007
- Pag - in operation since Apr 13, 2007

• Reconstruction - foreign network 
- Tuzla-Centre
- Mostar-Sutina

With implementation of the storage facility optimization proj-
ect, in 2006 four reserves storages of the Exploration and
Production Division, 14 storages of the Logistics Sector, and 17
storages of the Retail Sector were closed down. 

2.10 Awards received in 2006

• At the International Oil & Gas and Environment Exhibition 
held in Damascus in April 2006, INA was awarded 3rd prize 
for promotional appearance for the second time.  The exhibit
area, manner of communication, and overall impression 
were taken into account. 

• The National Tourist Board presented their 2006 awards for
the tidiest and most attractive petrol stations: The Green 
Flower went to INA’s Koprivnica petrol station, while the 
Blue Flower was awarded to our Raæine-west petrol station 
in ©ibenik.
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• Our attendant at the Makarska-Ratac petrol station, Ivica 
KovaËeviÊ, was pronounced Worker of the Year. With this 
award, for the fourth time in a row INA’s workers have been
selected among the best attendants.

• On October 4, 2006, the National Fire-fighters’ Association 
awarded INA a Letter of Recognition for sponsoring the 
Fire-fighters’ World Games, hosted by the Croatian town 
of Varaædin - cradle of Croatian fire-fighting.  

• At the Adriatic Car Show in Budva, held October 13, 2006, 
where the best exhibitors were awarded the Expo Trophy, 
INA won second prize for its attractive exhibit area and 
presentation of its products and services.

• In celebration of the Town of Ilok, on October 23, 2006, the 
Town Council awarded INA’s Exploration and Production 
Division a certificate of recognition for its contribution to the
development of Ilok. 

• At the 31st Innovations Salon INOVA 2006, held in November
2006 in Rijeka, INA’s inventors won 12 gold medals, 2 silver 
medals, and one bronze medal. 

• The Zagreb Technical Culture Association awarded INA a 
jubilee plaque and certificate of recognition, celebrating 60
years of technical culture and 50 years of innovation in Zagreb. 

• A special award was given to Diana KatiÊ, executive assistant
to the Director of Commercial Affairs Sector, for being one of
the best executive assistants at the ceremony held in 
November 2006, under the organisation of NAVO d.o.o. 
company and in cooperation with the Croatian Executive 
Assistant Association. 
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Year Award
1999 The Golden Plaque for Environmental Protection - On June 5, 1999, in celebration of World Environment Day, INA was awarded 

this highest state award for its achievements in environmental protection, in competition with eight companies from various 

branches of industry, transportation and energy supply. The Award Committee comprised the Head of the State 

Environmental Agency, representatives of several ministries, the Parliament Committee for Physical Planning and Environmental 

Protection, the ECE Environmental Centre, representatives of companies dealing with environmental protection, and specialised journalists.

2001 The 2001 Green Flower - The National Tourism Board, within the environmental and educational campaign “I Love Croatia”, 

awarded INA for the most tidiest petrol station in the continental part of Croatia.

Deloitte & Touche awarded INA the Certificate of Recognition for submitting an application to the 2001 Central European 
Environmental Reporting Award in October 2001 at the 2nd Regional Conference of the Business Council for Sustainable 

Development in Budapest, where INA participated by invitation of the Croatian Business Council for Sustainable Development. 

2002 Certificate of Recognition for Achievements in Waste Management - Production Companies Produce Waste was awarded to 

INA-Exploration and Production, in celebration of the 2002 World Environment Day, by the Ministry of Environmental Protection 

and Physical Planning.

2003 Recognition for the Promotion of Occupational Safety - On December 12, 2003, the Croatian Association for the Promotion of 

Occupational Safety, awarded INA a Certificate of Recognition for its long-term membership and outstanding contribution in 

promoting occupational health and safety, as well as for its active co-operation with the Association.

2004 Charter for promoting and applying quality in Croatian economy - INA was awarded this charter by the Croatian Society for 

Quality, for emphasizing the significance of corporate social responsibility, interacting with the social environment transparently, 

and focusing on sustainable development, respect for customer opinion, rising the quality of goods and services, and for our 

commitment to the wellbeing of our employees and the society at large.

2004 At the First Consumer Assembly, held March 15-18, 2004 in Umag, INA (and its Retail Sector) was awarded a Certificate of 
Recognition “for a company increasingly dedicated to its consumers, offering them a most diverse assortment of goods and 
services at petrol stations”. Following a several-month survey and gathering of consumer evaluations from all over Croatia, the 

certificate was awarded by the National Centre for Educating and Informing Consumers, and the Consumer Protection Journal.

Awards and Recognition for Socially Responsible Performance (1999-2005)
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Year Award
2004 Regional Award for the Largest Privatisation - Invesment Compact, an OECD initiative for the promotion of foreign investments 

in countries of Southeast Europe, on July 15, 2004, granted INA the Regional Award for the largest privatisation. The jurors of the 

traditional International Investor of the Year event, selected the sale of 25 plus one share of INA to Hungarian MOL as the most 

significant privatisation.

2005 The “Hrvoje Poæar” Annual Award - On July 5, 2005, the Croatian Energy Association “Hrvoje Poæar” granted their annual awards 

to scientists and experts, as well as scholarships to the best junior energy experts (students). The award winner, was 

Prof. Mirko ZeliÊ, Academician, INA-Board member and Executive Director of Exploration and Production, one of Croatia’s 

foremost energy experts.

2005 INA received the Scroll of Honor from the Croatian National Committee for EXPO 2005, for its golden sponsorship in helping 

Croatia participate in this world exhibition held March - September in Aichi, Japan, where almost a million people caught a 

glimpse of Croatia through the symbolic theme “A Drop of Water: A Grain of Salt”.

2005 By decision of the Croatian Information Technology Society, INA was awarded the Crystal Globe for its contribution to the 

development of computer literacy and for introducing ECDL to Croatia.

2005 As part of the annual “I Love Croatia” campaign, the Croatian National Tourist Board awarded the Green Flower, among other, for

the best petrol station, and for the third year in a row, first prize went to INA’s new petrol station SvaËiÊeva in Slavonski Brod. In a 

separate theme “People - The Key to Success”, aimed at improving the level of hospitality and creating a welcoming atmosphere 

for tourists, our employee, Josip Dragun from Vinkovci, was pronounced the best petrol-station attendant.

2005 The Tourist Board and City of Zadar grant an annual award for contributing to the tourist season, one category being the 

tidiness of petrol stations. In 2005, INA’s petrol station in the suburb of Voπtarnica was awarded the “Smiling Sun” as the tidiest 

and best maintained.

2005 The International Stevie Awards - In New York on May 19, 2005, the film “INA at Olymp” won the International Business Award in 

the sub-category of documentary/information films or videos. As a socially responsible company, in 2004 INA was the golden 

sponsor of the Croatian Olympic Team. In honour of the Games, we organised a prize competition for our customers, ten lucky 

winners of which were paid a trip to the Olympic Games in Athens. The authors of the 25-minute documentary were Ferdo Buva, 

an employee of the INA Corporate Communications Sector, and Mladen Dizdar, a young Croatian film director from Osijek. The 

Stevie Awards recognize outstanding performances at the workplace wordwide.

Awards and Recognition for Socially Responsible Performance (1999-2005)
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3. Report Parameters

Report Profile

3.1 

This report includes information for the calendar year of 2006.

3.2 

Our previous CSR and HSE Reports were last published in
October 2006, and included information for the calendar year
of 2005.

3.3 

INA’s first environmental report covered a two-year period
(1996 and 1997). Since then we have been reporting annually
on our environmental activities, while our Health, Safety and
Environment Report started in 2002, is issued  annually.

We published our first CSR report compliant to the GRI guidelines
in 2004 covering the calendar year of 2003, and have since then
been reporting on our CSR each year using the same methodology.

3.4 

For additional information, contact:

INA, d.d., Zagreb, Avenija VeÊeslava Holjevca 10, Croatia 
www.ina.hr

Corporate Communications Sector
Phone: 6450 406, Fax: 6452 406
E-mail: glasnogovornik@ina.hr

Sustainable Development and Corporate Social Responsibility
Work Group: Svea ©vel-CeroveËki, DSc.,  Head

Report Scope and Boundary

3.5 

Our Sustainability Report includes the full range of economic,
environmental, and social impacts of INA on its stakeholders.
We expect that the Report also be useful to our employees,
owners, management, buyers, and communities.

3.6 

The report includes information concerning our business activ-
ities, exploration and production, refining and wholesale,
retail, and corporate services function.

3.8 

The basis of all INA subsidiary reports, individually and at the
INA-Group level, are financial statements, such as the Profit
and Loss Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in
Equity, Cash Flow Statements, Notes to Financial Statements,
auditor reports, business plans. Joint-ventures, as well as other
companies in mixed ownership also require documents such
as production sharing agreements, social agreements, special
agreements, and letters of understanding.
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Companies established (outsourced) by INA Year Basic document in compliance with the Trade Companies Act
ITR d.o.o. Zagreb 1995 Declaration on the Establishment of a Limited Liability Company

Crosco d.o.o. Zagreb 1996 Declaration on the Establishment of a Limited Liability Company

Hostin d.o.o. Zagreb 1996 Declaration on the Establishment of a Limited Liability Company

Infocentar d.o.o. Zagreb 1996 Declaration on the Establishment of a Limited Liability Company

Proplin d.o.o. Zagreb 2001 Declaration on the Establishment of a Limited Liability Company

STSI d.o.o. Zagreb 2001 Declaration on the Establishment of a Limited Liability Company

Maziva-Zagreb d.o.o. Zagreb 2002 Declaration on the Establishment of a Limited Liability Company

Sinaco d.o.o. Sisak 2003 Declaration on the Establishment of a Limited Liability Company

Joint-ventures companies Year Basic document in compliance with the Trade Companies Act
INAGIP d.o.o. Zagreb (50%) 1996 Social Agreement Establishing INAGIP d.o.o.

CROPLIN d.o.o. Zagreb (50%) 1998 Social Agreement Establishing CROPLIN d.o.o.

ED-INA d.o.o. Zagreb (50%) 2002 Social Agreement Establishing a Limited Liability Company

POLYBIT d.o.o. Rijeka (50%) 2003 Social Agreement Establishing a Limited Liability Company

INA Branches and Representative Offices
Branches Year Representative Offices Year 
Damascus, Syria 1997 Luanda, Angola 1982

Cairo, Egypt 1997 Moscow, Russia 1992

Windhoek, Namibia 2004 Budapest, Hungary 1989

Naftni derivati Priπtina, Kosovo 2004 Teheran, Iran

Tirana, Albania 
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3.9 

As required by the Accounting Act of the Republic of Croatia,
our financial reports are prepared in compliance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and give a
true and fair view of INA’s financial state and performance.
INA applies all the relevant preconditions, techniques, meth-

ods and estimates set in the International Accounting
Standards. An independent auditor confirms the accuracy and
objectivity of the financial reports.

Pollutant emissions into the environment are determined
by measurement, emission factors or on the basis of the
material balance. 
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3.12 GRI Content Index

GRI Indicator Location
Strategy and Analysis 1.1 - 1.2
Organizational Profile 2.1 - 2.10
Report Parameters 3.1 - 3.13
Governance, Commitments, and Engagement 4.1 - 4.17

Economic
Economic Performance

EC1 5.1
EC2 5.2
EC3 5.3
EC4 5.4
Market Presence
EC6 5.5
EC7 Inapplicable
Indirect Economic Impacts
EC8 5.6

Environmental
Materials
EN1 6.1
EN2 6.2
Energy
EN3 6.3
EN4 6.4
EN6 6.5, 6.6
Water
EN8 6.7
EN9 6.8

Biodiversity
EN11 6.9, 6.11
EN12 6.10, 6.12
EN13 6.9
EN14 6.13
EN15 6.14
Emissions, Effluents, Waste
EN16 6.15
EN18 6.16
EN19 6.17
EN20 6.18
EN21 6.19
EN22 6.20
EN23 6.21
EN24 6.22
EN25 6.23
Products and Services
EN26 6.24
Compliance
EN28 6.25
Overall
EN30 6.26

Social Performance 
Labour Practices and Decent Work
Employment
LA1 7.1
LA2 7.2
LA3 7.3
Labour / Management Relations
LA4 7.4
Occupational Health and Safety
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LA6 7.5
LA7 7.6
LA8 7.7
LA9 7.8
Training and Education
LA10 7.9
LA11 7.10
LA12 7.11
Diversity and Equal Opportunity
LA13 7.12
LA14 7.13

Human Rights
Investment and Procurement Practices
Non-Discrimination
HR4 7.14
Freedom of Association and 
Collective Bargaining
HR5 7.15
Child Labour
HR6 7.16
Forced and Compulsory Labour
HR7 7.17

Indigenous Rights
HR9 Inapplicable

Society
Corruption
SO3 7.18
Public Policy
SO5 7.19

Product Responsibility
Customer Health and Safety
PR2 7.20
Products and Service Labelling
PR5 7.21
Marketing Communications
PR6 7.22
PR7 7.23
Customer Privacy
PR8 7.23

3.13

Since 2003, INA has been informing its stakeholders using the
GRI reporting methodology. Our CSR Reports have been
reviewed independently by the Croatian Chamber of Economy,
as well as by a representative of the Institute of Economics and
member of the EU Accession Negotiations Work Group for the
Enterprise and Industrial Policy Chapter.  

This 2006 Sustainability Report has been reviewed by the EU
Accession Negotiations member of the Working Group for the
Enterprise and Industrial Policy Chapter.



4. Governance, Commitments, 

Engagement

Governance

4.1

The governance structure of INA comprises the Supervisory
Board, the Management Board, and the General Assembly,
which together represent the three bodies as required by INA’s
Articles of Association and the Trade Companies Act.  

The Supervisory Board’s mandate includes nominating or
recalling Management Board members, as well as supervising
or recalling operations of the Management Board. It compris-
es six members: four representatives of Croatia, two MOL rep-
resentatives, while the seventh member (INA employee repre-
sentative) has not yet been nominated.

The Management Board manages INA’s business, and is
authorized to conclude business agreements on behalf of the
company. It reports to the Supervisory Board on the company’s
economic, social, and environmental performance, its profits
and revenue, issues pertaining to future operation, as well as
other issues important for INA. It comprises seven members,
five of which are proposed by the Croatian Government as the
majority owner, and two by the MOL Management. 

4.2

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board are two distinct
bodies having separate managerial and supervisory functions.

4.3

Supervisory Board members are not members of INA’s execu-
tive structure.

4.4

The Sustainable Development and Corporate Social
Responsibility Work Group provides recommendations or
directions to the Human Resources and Nominations
Committee and the Finance and Investments Committee for
approval before submitting them to the Management Board.
In 2006, the procedure for issuing the INA Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics was initiated through this mechanism. 

INA employees participate in the decision-making process
about issues pertaining to their economic and social rights and
interests, in the manner and under terms as defined by the
Labour Act, our Collective Agreement and Labour Regulations.

Since INA lacks an established workers’ body, this function is
discharged by a Union representative who assumes all the
rights and obligations of a workers’ council, and who is nomi-
nated alternately from one of the three unions every four
months. Since the beginning of collective bargaining at INA
(1996), the provisions of the Collective Agreement practically
apply to all INA employees regardless of their union member-
ship, with the exception of those having concluded special
contracts with INA Management. During the effective period
of the Collective Agreement, a committee for the interpreta-
tion of the Collective Agreement is in place, comprising three
employer and three union representatives. The committee
passes decisions by consensus, and meets as necessary (every
four months on average). The key challenge to this committee
is the effective implementation of its decisions at lower organ-
isational levels. It is therefore suggested that INA officials be
systematically informed about this committee’s mandate and
their duty to implement its decisions.
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4.5

Managerial contracts are concluded between INA and the
president and members of the Management Board, the terms
of which are determined by the Supervisory Board. The
Management Board’s mandate includes identifying the com-
pany’s development strategy, business policy, and measures
for the implementation thereof, negotiating with the workers’
unions about the rights, obligations, and material status of
employees, as well as concluding the collective agreement. It
also decides upon other matters for which it is authorized by
law or the Articles of Association, as well as those matters for
which any other managerial body of INA is not authorized by
law or the Articles of Association.  

4.6

According to INA’s Articles of Association, Board members are
required to disclose to the Board the nature of any interest
they or any related persons might have in proposed or existent
arrangements with INA.
4.7

The processes for determining the qualifications and expertise
of the members of the highest governance body for guiding
the company’s strategy on economic, environmental and
social matters are regulated by law and internal documents.

4.8

Mission

INA is a vertically integrated oil corporation, and plays a leading
role in the oil and gas markets of Southeast Europe. We are com-
mitted to constantly improving our business operations, as well as
perfecting the efficiency and quality of our products and services.  

Vision

INA’s vision is to be a reputable and desirable partner known
for excellent products and services; a brand built on an honest,
fair and interest-protecting relationship with our customers,
partners and employees together with a focus on creating
value for our shareholders.  

Core values

In order to fulfil our mission and achieve our vision, it is essen-
tial that we commit to the expectations and goals of all our
stakeholders - customers, shareholders, employees and com-
munities - whilst not impairing our natural environment.
Therefore, our core values are as follows:
• Achieve the profitability and create the values expected 

from our shareholders and investors.

• Fulfil the interests and expectations of our customers, and 
gain their trust and long-term loyalty.



• Maintain awareness of the INA brand through close 
cooperation with communities, respecting their cultural, 
national and regional characteristics. 

• Acknowledge our employees’ needs, interests, and abilities 
through an incentive-based reward and promotion system, 
since they are an indispensable creative resource, overall 
support, and foundation for the attainment of our corporate
goals. 

• Protect the environment, as well as ensure the health and 
safety of our employees and communities.  

INA’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics came into effect in
January 2007.

The internally developed mission statement, core values, and
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics are applied in all parts of
INA, and comply to internationally agreed standards.

4.9

Supervision over the company’s identification and manage-
ment of economic, environmental, and social performance is
performed once a year by the highest governance body in the
form of a Management Board’s Evaluation.

4.10

The highest governance body of INA is evaluated twice a year
by an independent evaluation company. Our financial busi-
ness transactions are reviewed regularly by external auditors.

Commitments to external initiatives

4.11

The precautionary approach introduced in Article 15 of Agenda
21 is incorporated into all internal business management doc-

uments. Health, safety, and environmental risk management
procedures are broadly elaborated.

4.12

Although the first quality management documents appeared
in the 1950s, certain areas of INA’s business in direct contact
with customers and product marketing attained ISO 9001 cer-
tificates during the 1990s. The first such certificate was award-
ed to Maziva Rijeka in 1995.

The year 2003 was the turning point in the introduction of a busi-
ness management system based on corporate regulations, laws,
rules of profession, and requirements of ISO 9001:2000, ISO
14001:1996 standards and OHSAS 18001:1999 specifications.

The Health, Safety and Environment Management system in
compliance with ISO 14001 standards, and OHSAS 18001 specifi-
cations was also introduced, confirming the highly developed
awareness of our management and employees.  Our concern for
the quality of our products, and keeping pace with global trends
- starting from quality control, quality assurance to quality man-
agement - is a process under constant improvement. Our efforts
in the field of quality have resulted in a series of certificates and
accreditations. In the aim to improve the quality of our services
and confirm our own competence in oil and oil product analysis,
over 100 test methods in all INA laboratories have been accred-
ited under ISO 17025, and their number is rising. 

The notion of quality is associated not only with our products and
efficient performance, but with the life quality of our employees
and the society in general. Quality improvement at INA is a perma-
nent process reflecting our aspirations toward business excellence. 

In 2004, we continued to develop our integrated quality manage-
ment system using the process approach in order to change from
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organisational management to management by strategy and
objectives, and measurement of process effectiveness. The goals
of each process reflect INA’s strategic goals lowered to every rele-
vant level and function, and together with process performance
measurement, also represent areas of permanent improvement.

We have set the target to apply the ISO 9001 standard through
an integrated system across INA, including not only the basic
processes but also every process that supports our core activi-
ties. The objective of this strategic commitment to quality con-
trol is to be distinguished as a European oil company. Thus, in
November 2005, INA attained the ISO 9001:2000 certificate. 

INA is a voluntary member of the Corporate Social Responsibility
Association of the Croatian Chamber of Economy since its foun-
dation in 2006. Since 2003, INA has been voluntarily informing its
stakeholders through CSR reports prepared in accordance with
the Global Reporting Initiative methodology. 

In 2007, INA became member of Global Compact, the world’s
largest corporate responsibility initiative, launched by the UN
at the World Economic Forum in 2000.

Provisions of Croatian legislation as well as those of interna-
tional conventions ratified by the Republic of Croatia are incor-
porated into our business.

4.13

INA participates in public and business policy through busi-
ness associations in Croatia and abroad. We are member to
national and regional associations of Mediterranean states
dealing in energy and environmental protection, while nation-
al associations give us the opportunity to act globally.
INA is member of the following associations:

• Observatore Mediterranean de l’Energie (OME)
• Croatian Energy Society (Croatian abbreviation HED)
• Croatian Chamber of Commerce (Croatian abbreviation HGK)
• Croatian Gas Expert Association (Croatian abbreviation HSUP)
• Croatian Quality Society (Croatian abbreviation HDK)
• Croatian Society of Metrology (Croatian abbreviation HMD)  

INA is a permanent participant of the World Petroleum Congress and
its National Committee, as well as the World Energy Conference.  

Although not a member, INA successfully co-operates with the
Croatian Business Council for Sustainable Development
(member of the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development), and with the American Chamber of Commerce
in Croatia. Through the Croatian Gas Experts Association, we
are an indirect member of the International Gas Union (IGU).

Our experts participate actively in the work of the Croatian
Standards Institute and the State Office for Metrology as:
• members in the Administrative Board of the Croatian 

Standards Institute;

• chair and secretary of the TC 28 Petroleum products and 
lubricants;

• chair of the TC 506 Materials, equipment and structures for
petroleum, and natural gas industries;

• members or participants in some thirty other technical 
committees.   

INA employees are also members of national and internation-
al expert associations and active participants in congresses,
symposia, workshops, and other gatherings worldwide.



Through these associations, our employees participate in the
development of policies and legislation.

Stakeholder engagement

4.14 Stakeholders

End Consumers 

Individuals, companies, institutions, and other establishments
all are consumers of INA products - fuel, lubricants, liquefied
petroleum gas, and consumer goods.

In the effort to improve product quality and market appearance, as
well as create partnership and friendly interaction with our con-
sumers, INA undertakes numerous actions, including various forms
of communication with the market and the public, co-operation
with and direct participation in consumer-protection bodies. 

Buyers

Major INA’s buyers are INA retail network and other oil traders,
major entities such as HÆ (national railway company), the
Croatian Military Forces, HEP (national electricity company),
schools, hospitals, child-care centres, haulers, and others.

Suppliers

Our supplier network comprises crude oil and gas importers, our oil

refineries, our E&P Division as our natural gas supplier, as well as
suppliers of lubricants, liquefied petroleum gas, consumer and
other goods and services necessary for our operation, whereby
Croatian companies, especially INA-Group members, have priority.

Owners

INA’s majority owner is the Croatian Government (51.8%), and
since 2003 Hungarian MOL owns 25% plus one share of INA. The
ownership structure is reflected in the management, comprising
five Croatian representatives in the Management Board:
President of the Management Board, Director of the Corporate
Processes Function, and three executive directors; and two MOL
representatives: Executive Director of the Finance Function and
Director of the Corporate Services Function. The government rep-
resentative in INA’s General Assembly is the Minister of Economy,
while MOL appoints its own representative. The Supervisory
Board comprises four Croatian government representatives, one
INA employee representative, and two MOL representatives.

By government decision issued in October 2005 and passed by
the Croatian Parliament, 7% of government-owned INA shares
were transferred to the Croatian War Veterans Fund.

At the end of 2006, the second phase of INA’s privatization was
completed, whereby small investors were distributed 12.5% shares,
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and ZagrebaËka banka/City Bank 3.7% shares. Our privatization
will continue in 2007 with the sale of our shares to our employees.

Management Board

Pursuant to the provisions of INA’s Articles of Association, the
Management Board comprises seven members, who are
appointed or recalled by the Supervisory Board.

Employees

On December 31, 2006, INA had a total of 10,183 employees, of
which 7,654 men and 2,529 women. A majority of the employ-
ees (9,601) are in permanent employment, while 582 are
employed on a temporary basis.

Trade Unions

At INA, there a three active Trade Unions: the Workers’ Union of
INA and INA Zagreb Subsidiaries (INA©), the INA and Oil Economy
Workers’ Union (SING), and the Chemical, Energy, Mine, and
General Workers’ Union (EKN). All three unions participate in the
collective bargaining process and monitor implementation of the
Collective Agreement, which covers all union members.

Business Organisations

With regard to our economic, social, and every other aspect of
life in Croatia, INA has a wide range of business partners,
including: 
• State institutions - Croatian Government; Ministry of 

Economy, Labour, and Entrepreneurship; Ministry of Sea, 
Tourism, Transport and Development; Ministry of Internal 
Affairs; Ministry of Environmental Protection, Physical 
Planning and Construction; Ministry of Culture; State 
Inspectorate; and the Croatian Energy Regulatory Agency; 

• Banks; 

• Major entities - HEP (national electricity distributor), HÆ 
(national railways), Hrvatske ceste (road construction and 
maintenance), the Croatian Military Forces, Croatia Airlines,
and others; 

• Numerous suppliers of consumer goods and services - 
CROSCO, PROPLIN, LEDO, Coca-Cola, STSI, Kraπ, Frank, and others;

• Goods and services consumers, beneficiaries of sponsorships
and donations, and partners in joint activities, such as granting
scholarships to top students. 

Central Authorities 

Since the majority owner of INA is the government, the
Supervisory Board comprises government representatives. INA
is also permanently in contact with all government institu-
tions regarding the implementation of business policies and
activities in all segments, especially with the Ministry of
Economy, Labour and Entrepreneurship, and the Ministry of
Environmental Protection, Physical Planning and Construction. 

Local Authorities

INA’s operations spread throughout Croatia, imposing the
need for permanent co-operation with representatives of local
authorities: from county and town administrations to regional
inspectorates, police departments and other institutions.

Non-governmental Organisations

The nature of our business implies co-operation with numer-
ous and diverse non-governmental organisations, such as
environmental, consumer, and other civil associations. 



Communities

INA is also committed to developing and promoting co-opera-
tion with local communities throughout Croatia, most fre-
quently by granting monetary or in-kind donations (books,
computers, vehicles, medical equipment, fuel) or by rendering
various services such as in the construction of infrastructure.  

Creditors

The largest banks supporting INA with long- and short-term
loans, and with whom, in addition to a few other smaller banks,
INA has been successfully collaborating for many years, are
Privredna banka Zagreb, Raiffeisenbank Austria d.d. Zagreb,
ZagrebaËka banka, HVB Splitska banka, OTP Banka Hrvatska d.d.
Zadar, Hrvatska poπtanska banka d.d. Zagreb,  European Bank for
Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), Mizuho Corp. Ratb.
Bank, Citibank N.A., BNP Paribas, and ING Bank N.V. 

4.15

Stakeholders are selected on the basis of there interest and
influence. They are identified as internal/external individuals
or groups having any legitimate interest in the company.

4.16

Stakeholder Type of communication
End Consumers Annual satisfaction survey

Web page
INA Toll-free Phone
INA representative in the 
Consumer Association

Buyers Consultations
Contracts
INA Toll-free Phone
Web page
Focus group
Surveys

Suppliers Contracts
Correspondence

Owners Supervisory Board
General Assembly

Executive managers Management Board, meetings
Employees Daily meetings

Mail
Work groups
Occupational safety committees
Intranet
Internal newspapers
Internal documents

Trade Unions Meetings, Annual collective 
bargaining

Business Organisations Regular meetings of member 
organisations

Central Authorities Mail
Meetings

Local Authorities Correspondence
Meetings

Non-governmental Consultations
Organisations Meetings

Donations
Sponsorships

Communities Frequent communication
Donations

Creditors Agreements
Reports

4.17

The key topics and concerns raised through stakeholder
engagement have been published in INA-Glasnik.

“Collective Agreement”

Following almost six months of negotiations, on April 12, 2006,
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the INA Board and heads of the three unions signed a new col-
lective agreement that, among other, provides improved bene-
fits for workers. Both negotiating parties redefined their initial
standpoints and came to a mutually acceptable agreement. 

“Sisak Refinery Air Quality”

A “Rehabilitation Program for Reduction of Benzene
Emissions/Immissions from the INA Sisak Refinery” was pre-
pared. Pursuant to the government decree on critical levels of air
pollution it was proposed that sirens be activated in the town of
Sisak in future when the metering station records indicate high-
er concentrations of hydrogen sulphide over a longer period.
Since the desulphurization plant is due for completion in 2007, it
is highly unlikely that the alarms will be sounded even once. 

The rehabilitation program involves installation of new technolo-
gy, enabling production of European quality fuels, and elimina-
tion of harmful effects on human health and the environment.

“Higher gas prices proposed for eligible customers”

According to the agreement in principle reached between the
Croatian Government and INA, the price of gas for tariff cus-
tomers, thereby including households, remains at the current
level throughout the next year. However, eligible customers
like HEP, Petrokemija and Pliva will have to pay a somewhat
higher price, which will provide INA an advantage in future
market relations in regard to gas pricing.

“Recapitalization of Energopetrol”

In Sarajevo on September 8, 2006, the Government of the B&H
Federation, the INA-MOL consortium, and Energopetrol, signed
an agreement on the recapitalization of Energopetrol. Thus, INA-
MOL acquired a 67-percent share of the company, which includes
65 petrol stations and two office buildings. INA-MOL consortium
is required to invest 150 million convertible marks into

Energopetrol over the next three years, as well as provide addi-
tional investments for keeping all its employees and settling
debts from the previous two years. The act of recapitalization
guarantees Energopetrol’s revival into a modern and highly com-
petitive company capable of offering high-quality products.

Sources:

Articles of Association of INA Zagreb, 2003
Labour Regulations, INA, 2004
Mezzoorganization of the Strategy & Corporate Business
Development Sector, INA, 2004
Basic organizational standards of INA d.d., INA, 2007
Decision-making Authorizations List, INA 2005
INA Supervisory Board Rules of Procedure, INA, 2003
INA Management Board Rules of Procedure, INA, 2005
Corporate Strategy 2006-2015, INA, December 2005
INA 2005 Annual Report, INA, 2006
INA Prospectus, Merrill Lynch International, 2006
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, INA, 2007
Communication in Environmental Protection, INA, December, 2001.
Accounting Act, Official Gazette, 146/2005
Ekonomske vijesti No. 3449, Sept/Oct 2006
INA-Glasnik, No.. 1873, April 25, 2006
INA-Glasnik, No. 1883, Oct 3, 2006
INA-Glasnik, No. 1884, Oct 17, 2006 
INA-Glasnik, No. 1885, Oct 31, 2006
INA-Glasnik, No. 1886, Nov 14, 2006 
INA-Glasnik, No. 1887, Nov 28, 2006
INA-Glasnik, No. 1888, Dec 19, 2006
INA-Glasnik, No. 1894, Mar 27, 2007
www.globalreporting.org
www.Ina.hr
Poslovni dnevnik, May 31, 2007





INA is an influential player in the oil, gas and products market
in Croatia and the neighbouring countries, focused on creating
greater value by constantly improving our business opera-
tions, as well as perfecting the efficiency and quality of our
products and services.

The primary role of INA is to supply the Republic of Croatia and
partly the regional markets with energy.  Over eighty percent
(83.1%) of energy produced in Croatia is derived from oil and gas.

In the broader economic context, INA’s financial results represent a
significant contribution to domestic economy and national income,
while our business relations with economic and state entities also
greatly influence the status of domestic economy. INA also plays an
important economic role when it comes to employment, providing
a secure living to some ten thousand citizens of Croatia.

Our corporate business policy reflecting our overall economic
aspirations are publicly available on the web at www.ina.hr. 

Among INA’s numerous business achievements in 2006, six of
the most significant were as follows:
• INA shares sold - In the second phase of its privatization by 

public bid, INA offered 15-17% of its shares to the citizens of 
Croatia and other legal persons. The more favourable 

purchasing terms for citizens enabled them to become a 
significant shareholder. Since listed on the Zagreb and 
London Stock Exchanges, INA shares have been achieving 
notable daily turnover with constant share price growth.

• Refinery modernization begins - Modernization of our 
refineries is one of our three key projects essential for INA’s 
survival in light of the increasingly stringent European 
fuel-quality and environmental standards. Therefore, INA 
will invest approx. one billion dollars into the modernization
of its Rijeka and Sisak refineries, the first phase of which has
already begun. Refinery capacities will increase from the 
current 5.2MMt/g to 7.7 MMt/g, whereas from January 1, 
2009, the refineries will be able to produce Euro V quality 
petrol and diesel fuel with a maximum sulphur content of 10 ppm.

• Energopetrol recapitalized - On September 8, 2006 in 
Sarajevo, the Government of the B&H Federation, the 
INA/MOL consortium, and Energopetrol signed an agreement
for Energopetrol’s recapitalization. Thus, INA/MOL acquired
a 67% share in the company, which includes 65 petrol stations
and 2 office buildings. According to the agreement, INA-MOL
will invest 150 million KM into Energopetrol over the next 
three years, as well as provide additional investments for 
keeping all its employees and settling debts from the previous
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two years. The act of recapitalization guarantees 
Energopetrol’s revival into a modern and highly competitive
company capable of offering high-quality products.

• INA begins natural gas test production at Palmyra Field - 
After the joint venture Hayan Petroleum Company started 
up commercial crude production from the Jihar Field in the 
Hayan concession in August 2006, work has intensified on 
the construction of gas pipelines on Palmyra field’s two 
wells and their connection with the Arak station owned by 
the Syrian gas company.

• Start-up of the Pula-Karlovac gas pipeline - The official start-up
of this strategic facility took place in Pula on November 22, 
2006. Natural gas from our North Adriatic gasfields, Ivana, 
Marica, Ika and Ida, finally started flowing directly to 
Croatian consumers. With this facility, we have formed the 
backbone of Croatia’s gas distribution system, which will 
ensure stable gas supply during winter months as well as 
compensate for the natural decline in production from 
on-shore fields. Thus, domestic production will cover more 
than 60% of the gas demand in Croatia. 

• SAP system launched - On November 1, 2006, INA launched 
the SAP system. SAP is currently the world’s best IT software
for oil businesses, and INA has finally joined the circle of its 
successful users. Preparations for the introduction of this 
integrated IT system lasted about 18 months. The changes 
brought about with its implementation were enormous, not
at all painless, and required lots of money, hard work and 
knowledge. The so-called first package launched on 
November 1, covers refining and logistics, finance and 
investments, wholesale, procurement, and storage. Retail, 
human resources, and maintenance kicked off two months 

later, on January 1, 2007, thereby completing SAP 
implementation. The SAP system connects every segment 
of INA with the same information and processes, thus 
adding speed and quality to not only our business operations,
but also our business decisions. It is also likely to contribute
to profit growth, since the system provides real-time information
on all processes. True, that the initial phase of SAP implementation
is costly, but in the end, it is the best solution for making 
correct and efficient business decisions.

INA’s economic goals for the year 2007 and mid-term period to
2011, are as follows:
1. Growth of core business profit at an average annual rate of 55%

• Positive effects: increased crude production from Egypt 
concession, increased natural gas production from Syrian
concession and Northern Adriatic, growth in capacity 
and better crack spread due to refinery modernization, 
cost-cutting measures;

• The positive effects have somewhat lost pace due to 
expected lower world crude prices and the regulated fuel
pricing formula for the domestic market.

2. Growth of sales revenue at an average annual rate of 10.5%
• The positive trend is caused by: increased oil and gas pro-

duction volumes, and increased revenue from gas sales 
on the domestic market due to higher prices of domestic
gas for eligible customers. 

The following changes may have a negative effect on these trends:
Lower prices of crude and associated products 

• lower prices of export crude and associated products 
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• lower wholesale margins on the domestic market (appli-
cation of the new Maximum Fuel Prices Regulations);

Risks in Syria
• since the income is based on the GSA terms concluded 

with the Syrian government (the gas price is tied to the 
price of heavy fuel oil), any change whatsoever in 
announced prices of heavy fuel oil may result in price 
discussions and have a significantly negative impact 
on planned income. 

Negative changes in the gas business
• Inability to raise the gas prices for eligible customers in Croatia,
• Inability to transfer the increased prices of imported 

Russian gas to domestic market prices. 

3. Refinery modernization
Refinery modernization was planned in order to attain addi-
tional refining and conversion capacities, as well as produce
EURO IV and EURO V quality fuels. 

Risks associated with INA activities:
• prices of crude, natural gas, and associated products depend

on various factors over which INA has no control whatsoever,

• refinery margin trends,

• state regulations and interventions,

• failure to solve issues regarding regulated prices of natural 
gas on the domestic market,

• successful modernization of our refineries as scheduled, in 
the aim of producing EU-quality fuels,

• risks associated with exploration drilling and well development,

• fluctuation of foreign currency exchange rates,

• expiration of the natural gas supply agreement with Gazexport 
(in 2010); it is uncertain whether INA will be able to renew the 
agreement under the current or more favourable terms,

• ability to renew current oil and gas reserves,

• the political climate in Syria and negotiations requested by 
the Syrian party may have a negative effect on the net profits
of our operations in Syria,

• efficiency of our retail network’s reconstruction and improvement, 
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• compliance with environmental legislation, which may 
become harsher,

• dependence of retail on tourism development,

• aggressive competition in the oil and gas industry,

• facilities and operations may be targets of international terrorism,

• potential losses not covered by insurance,

• influence of key shareholders on the strategic direction of 
INA and corporate activities,

• further privatization in accordance with the INA 
Privatization Act,

• rights of the Republic of Croatia as shareholder (executed by
the Government) may limit the rights of other shareholders
and/or may be in contrast to the interests of other shareholders,

• licenses essential to INA activities may be withdrawn or will
require renewal,

• certain licenses and formal proof of INA’s ownership may be
lacking, deemed inadequate, incomplete or inappropriate,

• EU accession/non-accession,

• national political changes in 2007 (parliamentary elections)
may influence INA activities,

• inability to control employee costs (influence of unions),

• influence of market competition regulations.

INA 2006 Business Results in Relation to Plans

Total income was 23% higher than planned, which is attributed
to 12% higher domestic sales and 33% higher foreign sales.

Increased domestic sales were influenced by higher average
prices of products, together with the negative effect of 8% less
products sold.

The increase in foreign sales was achieved with a new product
assortment and higher average selling prices, along with the
increased sale of crude in Angola and Egypt.

The business year ended with 4% slower growth of total
income in relation to total expenses growth as planned, resulting
in a 30% profit reduction.  

Higher expenses were mainly influenced by 34% higher costs
of feed, material, and energy. The average net price of imported
crude grew by 35.6% due to the 44.8% average price growth of
BRENTdtd FOB (SPOT) crude in US$/bbl, along with the 1.2%
slower growth of the US dollar exchange rate.

The valuation of fixed and current assets 2.7 times higher than
planned had a negative effect on INA’s stated financial results.   
Total investments into tangible and intangible assets reached
89.2% of the planned investment funds. 

41 Economic Aspect



42Economic Indicators

2004 2005 2006
mln HRK mln $ mln HRK mln $ Index 3/1 mln HRK mln $ Index 6/3

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
15,924 2,825 19,234 3,085 121 21,326 3,823 111

Economic Indicators

Economic Performance

5.1

MARKET                                                             2004 2005 2006
mln HRK mln $ mln HRK mln $ Index 3/1 mln HRK mln $ Index 6/3

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Croatia 11,281 2,001 13,485 2,163 120 14,352 2,573 106
ex-YU countries 2,168 385 1,935 310 89 2,305 413 119
European Union 2,289 406 3,415 548 149 4,176 749 122
Other 186 33 399 64 215 493 88 124
TOTAL 15,924 2,825 19,234 3,085 121 21,326 3,823 111

Note: The US$/HRK exchange rate was used as per Dec 31 of the corresponding year.

INA 2004-2006 sales revenue

INA 2004-2006 revenue per market
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2004 2005 2006
mln HRK mln $ mln HRK mln $ Index 3/1 mln HRK mln $ Index 6/3

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
12,501 2,218 16,220 2,602 130 18,457 3,309 114

ITEM                                                               2004 2005 2006
mln HRK mln $ mln HRK mln $ Index 3/1 mln HRK mln $ Index 6/3

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Net 654 116 737 118 113 778 139 106
Taxes and surtaxes 451 80 521 84 116 561 101 108
Other payroll costs 143 25 226 36 158 180 32 80
TOTAL 1,248 221 1,484 238 119 1,519 272 102

INA 2004-2006 costs of purchased materials, goods, and services

INA 2004-2006 payroll costs

ITEM                                                               2004 2005 2006
HRK $ HRK $ Index 3/1 HRK $ Index 6/3

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Commuting expenses 40,657,552 7,212,772 44,436,762 7,128,587 109 50,623,674 9,074,944 114
Severance compensation 6,673,756 1,183,944 79,375,405 12,733,477 1,189 38,101,032 6,830,099 48
Various other financial support 6,241,871 1,107,327 5,707,629 915,623 91 4,773,999 855,801 84
Christmas bonus 16,287,288 2,889,414 21,137,250 3,390,858 130 24,668,600 4,422,163 117
St. Nicolas Day children’s bonus 2,234,400 396,389 2,136,400 342,723 96 2,064,000 369,998 97
Jubilee rewards 5,244,070 930,314 5,295,500 849,509 101 4,768,000 854,725 90
TOTAL 77,338,937 13,720,160 158,088,946 25,360,778 204 124,999,305 22,407,730 79

Note: The indicated employee benefit obligations are included in item “Other payroll costs” of the “2004-2006 Payroll Costs” table.

INA 2004-2006 employee benefit obligations
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2004 2005 2006
mln HRK mln $ mln HRK mln $ Index 3/1 mln HRK mln $ Index 6/3

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
42 7 52 8 124 91 16 175

A dividend of HRK 13.08 per share will be paid for the year 2006.

2004 2005 2006
mln HRK mln $ mln HRK mln $ Index 3/1 mln HRK mln $ Index 6/3

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
985 175 892 143 91 670 120 75

The profit of HRK 670 million earned in 2006 will be distributed as follows: losses from previous years HRK 119 million; mandatory
reserves HRK 28 millon; other company reserves HRK 392 million; dividends HRK 131 million. 

INA 2006 Return on Assets (ROA):

Profit 670
ROA (%)= ———————  x 100 = ——————  x 100 = 3.30%

Total Assets 20,239

INA 2004-2006 loan interest paid

INA 2004-2006 profit earned

Country                                                            2004 2005 2006
mln HRK mln $ mln HRK mln $ Index 3/1 mln HRK mln $ Index 6/3

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Croatia 5,889 1,045 5,315 853 90 4,851 870 91
Angola 48 9 37 6 77 37 7 100
TOTAL 5,937 1,053 5,352 859 90 4,888 876 91

Note: Taxes paid in Croatia include income tax and surtax, VAT, excise duty on oil products, and oil-product duties for roads and motorways.

INA 2004-2006 total taxes paid



45 Economic Aspect

Item Average gross wage (HRK) Index Fixed base index

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 3/2 4/3 5/4 6/5 7/6 Col. 2 Col. 3 Col. 4 Col. 5 Col. 6 Col. 7

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18

Republic of Croatia* 5,061 5,366 5,623 5,985 6,248 6,634 106.0 104.8 106.4 104.4 106.2 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

Croatia - Industry *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** ***

Industrial sectors according

to national classification*:

- Mining and exploitation 5,696 5,942 6,332 6,629 7,283 7,894 104.3 106.6 104.7 109.9 108.4 112.5 110.7 112.6 110.8 116.6 119.0

- Processing 4,465 4,794 5,043 5,288 5,575 6,003 107.4 105.2 104.9 105.4 107.7 88.2 89.3 89.7 88.4 89.2 90.5

- Electricity, gas, 

and water supply 5,480 5,700 6,086 6,720 6,913 7,342 104.0 106.8 110.4 102.9 106.2 108.3 106.2 108.2 112.3 110.6 110.7

- Civil engineering 3,975 4,549 4,884 5,105 5,212 5,593 114.4 107.4 104.5 102.1 107.3 78.5 84.8 86.9 85.3 83.4 84.3

INA - Industrija nafte d.d. 5,924 6,278 6,767 7,401 8,277 9,094 106.0 107.8 109.4 111.8 109.9 117.0 117.0 120.3 123.7 132.5 137.1

Employee Compensation

The average gross wage at INA maintained at approximately
20% higher than the 2001-2004 national average. INA wages
in 2005 were 32% higher, and in 2006 37%. 

Donations and Sponsorships

Since 2004, INA has been granting donations and sponsor-
ships by public invitation, which has made this exceptionally
important domain accessible and transparent to all potential

beneficiaries as well as the public. The basic criteria for approv-
ing donations are: project quality and originality, regional
presence, high level of community benefit, and the fact that
the project begins or ends in the corresponding calendar year.
Our donations cover projects in five fields of activity: children
and youth, culture and art, education and science, healthcare
and ecology, and humanitarian projects.

*Source: Republic of Croatia, Central Bureau of Statistics
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In 2006, INA allocated approx. HRK 40 million for donations
and sponsorships.

The annual scholarship campaign “Top Scholarships to Top
Students”, launched jointly by INA and NCL Media Group,
awarded scholarships to the best students this year as well.
INA also provided scholarships for three foreign students.

INA also donated fuel to some twenty first-category invalids
from all parts of Croatia, who were selected by their local asso-
ciations. In future, invalids will have access to free fuel in the
amount of HRK 1,000 per month.

Type of education / training In-house / Out-of-house Number of employees 

2006 2005 2004

1 2 3 4 5

1. Introductory training In-house 86 26

2. Internship In-house 154 174 99

3. Safe-work training 1,404 988 744

4. Studying while working Out-of-house 418 301 279

5. Professional training In-house / Out-of-house 2,291 2,511 1,841

6. Additional training - computer, foreign languages,

middle and top management, quality 

management system In-house / Out-of-house 6,660 5,888 6,933

7. Practical training and specializations 23 0 11

8. Scholarships for secondary-school and university students

(Top Scholarships + scholarships to 3 Syrian students) 13 13 10

9. Practical training for secondary-school and university students In-house 712 1,110 686

Total 11,675 11,071 10,629

Note: Due to the fact that a significant number of employees had to attend SAP training, many of our planned courses for 2006 were not realized (the number of employees that
passed SAP training is not indicated in the above table). 

Employee Training and Education



5.2 Financial implications and other risks and 

opportunities due to climate change

INA’s CO2 emissions in 2006 reached 2,700,348.17 tons. The
Kyoto Protocol commits us to reduce these emissions, which
may be achieved by trading the CO2 emissions or by their
sequestration in geological formations. 

A proposal for a CO2 emissions fee of HRK 9-11/t is to be sub-
mitted to the Croatian Parliament during 2007.

An Enhanced Oil Recovery Project by the CO2 injection method
is currently being implemented in the oilfields of IvaniÊ and
Æutica. The basic aim of this project is to enhance oil recovery
from these fields and simultaneously reduce CO2 emissions. 

5.3 Bonus severance pay for workers eligible for 

the old-age pension

According to the corporate resolution Bonus Severance
Measures for Termination of Employment in 2005-2007, work-
ers fulfilling the old-age pension eligibility requirements in
2006 were entitled to a bonus severance pay. 

5.4

During the reporting period, INA received no subsidies from
the private sector, either in the country or abroad.
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Indirect Economic Impacts

5.6 

For several decades, INA traditionally financed infrastructure,
especially in communities where we engaged in oil & gas
exploration and production. Such investments were most
intense during the 1980’s, when INA financed the construction
of schools, hospitals, medical centres, and holiday resorts,
among others. This trend has notably decreased over the last
ten years.  However, there are still traces of INA-financed infra-
structure in local communities.

Sources

INA Financial Reports 2004, 2005, 2006
INA Business Records, 2004, 2005, 2006
INA Glasnik No.1888, Dec 19, 2006. 
INA Glasnik No.1886, Nov 14, 2006
INA Paid Wages Operational Report for December 2006, and
Jan-Dec 2006
Central Bureau of Statistics
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Market Presence 

5.5 Structure of suppliers with >2% share in total 2006 procurement

National suppliers Foreign suppliers

Supplier mln HRK Share in total Supplier mln HRK Share in total

supply, % supply, %

Carinarnica Rijeka (Customs) 2,152 22.44 Interina London 7,244 48.17

Crosco 353 3.68 Gazprom 1,766 11.74

INAGIP d.o.o. 2,373 24.74 Interina Guernsey Limited 992 6.60

STSI 852 8.88 ENI S.P.A. 741 4.93

Other 3,860 40.25 MOL Plc 2,328 15.48

Other 1,966 13.07

TOTAL 9,590 100.00 TOTAL 15,037 100.00





As an integral part of our business policy, environmental man-
agement is organized in all our core activities, which reflects
our commitment to sustainable development.  

INA thus undertakes to:  
• Reduce the environmental risks arising from our technology,

processes, and products to the lowest possible level;

• Act preventively against unforeseen events and 
environmental pollution;

• Protect natural values;

• Fulfil our obligations arising from past environmental pollution; 

• Improve constantly implementation of environmental protection;

• Regulate our activities according to environmental legislation;

• Take an active part in developing legislation, co-operate with 
legislative bodies, professional and other societies;

• Provide our employees the necessary training and education
so that they may conduct activities in compliance with 
environmental requirements; 

• Communicate openly with all parties interested in INA’s 
activities and environmental management.

The Health, Safety and Environmental Management Sector is
the central organizational unit at INA in charge of all three
areas. It acts as part of the Corporate Processes Function with
the aim of uniformly managing HSE. This includes defining
common policy, strategy and objectives as well as operating in
compliance with these rules, and at the same time, meeting
legal and other requirements. The Sector co-operates daily
with its sub-departments throughout INA. Conformity in envi-
ronmental management activities is also provided through
the Environment Protection Activities Work Group appointed
at corporate level. Health and safety activities, including occu-

Environmental Aspect
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pational safety and fire safety, are also managed through var-
ious occupational safety committees. 

The Sector is in charge of the following activities:
• Defining objectives and guidelines

• Participating in the development of proposals and providing
opinions on HSE regulations; 

• Supervising and controlling HSE activities;

• Drafting environmental management, occupational safety, 
health and fire safety documents;

• Preparing relevant reports, information and training; 

• Maintaining a register of waste and pollutant emissions to 
air and water;

• Monitoring and analyzing unforeseen events affecting the 
environment;

• Monitoring and analyzing inspection reports and lawsuits 
concerning environmental protection, as well as analyzing 
safety measures, injuries and occupational diseases;

• Monitoring and analyzing HSE costs;
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• Co-ordinating HSE activities.

In order to better inform our employees of our legal obliga-
tions regarding health, safety, and environmental protection,
the HSE Sector has organized a series of monthly lectures aiming
to present and explain certain new legislation of the Republic
of Croatia and the European Union.

The basic environmental indicators that we monitor are pollu-
tant emissions to air and water, water consumption and
water-management fees, management of hazardous and non-
hazardous industrial waste, unforeseen events affecting the
environment, and environmental management costs. 

All our organizational units that pose a potential or actual
threat to human health, safety, or the environment, possess
ISO 14001 certified environmental management systems, and
OHSAS 18001 health and safety management systems. The
only exception is the Retail Network Management Sector,
where the health and safety management system is in its
implementation phase.  

• Sisak Oil Refinery - ISO 14001:2004

• Rijeka Oil Refinery - Urinj - ISO 14001:2004

• Rijeka Oil Refinery - Mlaka - ISO 14001:2004
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• Exploration & Production Division - ISO 14001:2004

• Retail Network Management Sector - ISO 14001:2004

These certificates guarantee that every environmental, health
and safety issue is under constant supervision, as well as rep-
resent recognition for all our efforts in this domain so far. 
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Type of Feed Unit of measure Quantity 

Crude oil t 4,941,701

Other light fuel oils, light products t 15,161

Atmospheric distillation residue of crude oil t 342,628

Natural gas - oil reservoir m3 54,470,272

Natural gas - gas reservoir m3 1,513,015,432

Natural gas condensate t 180,515

Geothermal water m3 215,923

Liquid (water + crude oil) m3 34,160

Ethane + cuts t 110,865

Sweetwater m3 409,043

Raw materials used in the production process

Environmental Performance Indicators

Materials

6.1
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Type of energy consumed Value in HRK

Fuel 18,654,766

Lubricants 6,712,443

Gas 43,371,942

Total 68,739,151  

Energy Consumed in Production and Other Processes (by Primary Energy Source) 

Energy

6.3

In 2006, INA consumed HRK 1,117,297 worth of fuels and HRK 6,712,188 worth of lubricants in the production process. Fuels consumed
for other purposes amounted to the sum of HRK 17,537,469, while gas amounted to HRK 43,371,941. 

Type of waste material Quantity (in tons)

Non-specified waste 4.00

Oily sludge from plant and equipment maintenance 2.50

Non-halogen emulsions and solvents 0.10

Mineral-based non-chlorinated hydraulic oils 8.90

Other hydraulic oils 1.00

Mineral-based non-chlorinated lubricating oils for engines and gears 8.50

Other lubricating oils for engines and gears 47.00

Synthetic insulating and heat transmission oils 0.20

Residual oil remaining at the bottom of tankers after off-loading 43.80

Sludge from the oil/water separator 25.00

Oily water from the oil/water separator 10.50

Fuel oil and diesel 5.32

Gasoline 55.00

Grease and oil mixtures from the oil/water separator 10.00

Oil-containing waste 189.00

Total 410.82

6.2 Recycled input materials



6.4

In 2005, INA consumed electrical energy equivalent to the sum of HRK 107,758,292, and steam equivalent to HRK 4,164,004.

6.5

In recent years there have been intensive discussions regard-
ing exploitation of geothermal waters from INA E&P oil wells
for the generation of electrical energy, application in various
industrial processes, heating greenhouses, and other purpos-
es. Such application has increased the share of geothermal
water in total energy consumption, which complies with the
EU directive for promoting the use of renewable energy
sources and the set indicative targets.

6.6

The hot water from our well in the area of Lunjkovec-Kutnjak
(its temperature reaches up to 140°C), will be used to drive the
first power plant in Croatia using geothermal water for the
generation of electrical energy. The used hot water from the
power plant will serve several other purposes: in fruit and veg-
etable processing, fish breeding, or in spas.  
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Type of energy consumed Value in HRK

Electrical energy 107,758,292

Water 45,615,501

Steam 4,164,004

Total 157,537,797 

Indirect Energy consumption by Primary Source



Water

6.7

For the purpose of cooling our storage tanks and process equip-
ment, INA withdraws water from the water supply system, the
rivers Sava and Kupa, own water wells, the Tribalj dam, and the sea.

In 2006, INA withdrew 7,649,181 cubic metres of water, while
the Rijeka Oil Refinery withdrew an additional 42,033,616.68
cubic metres of seawater for cooling purposes.

The Retail Network Management Sector, part of which are our
petrol stations, has no technological processes that consume
significant volumes of water, as do other parts of INA. Most of
the water is used for sanitary purposes. 

6.8 

Not one source is significantly affected by withdrawal of water.

Biodiversity

6.9

Beavers

At the Zagreb School of Forestry, in April 2006, INA organized
the celebration of the 10th anniversary of the “Beaver in
Croatia” campaign. This project was launched and implement-
ed in co-operation with the Zagreb School of Forestry, the
Institute of Wildlife Biology from Munich, and others, with the
aim to re-introduce this sympathetic rodent to our waterways,
from where the last of its native kind disappeared over a hun-
dred years ago. 

From 1996 to 1998, eighty-five beavers from Bavaria were
released in the area of our Æutica and Legrad oilfields. Our envi-
ronmental studies established that this area is fully suitable for
repopulating the beaver, despite the thirty-year oil production
of the nearby Æutica field. Following a period of adjustment,
building lodges and courting, the beavers are now busy multi-
plying and colonizing this area. They have fulfilled their mission
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completely, and currently their proud colony counts between
300 and 350 members.      

The first Bavarian beavers were brought and released alongside
of our E&P premises, in the Æutica woods, not far from Zagreb,
where they settled successfully and began to multiply. 

6.10

It is a known fact that this animal thrives only along clean
waterways, so that their presence in any given area is the best
indicator of its cleanliness. A major part of our oil and gas pro-
duction comes from the Æutica field, i.e. one-fifth of total
domestic hydrocarbon production. However, these activities
that have been going on for several decades, along with all the
accidents that have occurred, have not significantly threatened
the highly sensitive and complex area, known for its numerous
plant and animal species. The fact that the beavers have settled
there and are multiplying, is proof of INA’s commitment to
environmental preservation and protection. 

As the golden sponsor of the Planet Earth Day celebration, INA
organized the play “Beaver Darko in the Æutica Woods” for our
youngest visitors. 

The future of our beavers now seems brighter and INA is mak-
ing every effort to provide them the natural habitat they right-
fully deserve.  

6.11

The White Stork - Symbol of Posavina District

Our Struæec Plant is located in the town of Struæec, along the
east side of the field Lonjsko Polje and the left bank of the river
Lonja. Since this plant is in the neighbourhood of Lonjsko Polje
Nature Park, we are permanently engaged in preserving and
protecting our co-existence with the flora and fauna native to
the nature park. As part of our E&P Division, the Struæec Plant is
ISO 14001 certified, which confirms constant monitoring, docu-
menting, analysis and improvement of the environmental
management system in all its facilities.      

The white stork is one of the most beautiful and most elegant
birds, known for its gracious soaring flight. Young storks reach
sexual maturity in their fourth or fifth year; they normally have
up to 2 chicks, and only later up to 5. 
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6.12

The premises of our Struæec production plant, with its four oil-
fields - Struæec, Mramor Brdo, Okoli and Voloder, is the cradle of
oil and gas production in Croatia. The Struæec oilfield alone pro-
duces 97% of the plant’s crude oil, while over the past five
decades, the entire Struæec plant has produced 17.2 million cubic
metres of crude oil and 2.2 million cubic metres of natural gas. 

Our facilities in the Struæec Plant are equipped with several
lighting platforms that serve for illuminating the areas around
the process vessels and equipment. The storks took a liking to
these platforms for their height and roominess, and started
nesting on a few posts. 

By observing the nests we noticed the storks had problems tak-
ing flight and landing, and concluded that at landing they were
exposed to electrical shock or injury if they were to hit into the
reflector housing. If needed, the reflectors could not be repaired
without moving the nest, and access would be difficult.

6.13

We called in the nature park authorities and presented them
with our plan for building nesting platforms and relocating
the storks’ nests to these new posts. Finally, we agreed upon
how to relocate the nests before the storks return, expected in
mid March 2007.

Suitable locations for the nests have been assessed, and five
nesting platforms will be built. 

6.14 

The Red List and Red Book of Threatened Species is the most
comprehensive inventory of the global conservation status of
plant and animal species. Our national Institute for Nature
Protection, in the year 2000, started developing a Red List of
Threatened Species of Croatia. There are nine categories in the
IUCN Red List system: Extinct (EX), Extinct in the Wild (EW),
Critically Endangered (CR), Endangered (E), Vulnerable (V),
Near Threatened (NT), Least Concern (LC), Data Deficient (DD),
and Not Evaluated (NE). Classification into the categories for
species threatened with extinction (Vulnerable, Endangered,
and Critically Endangered) is through a set of five quantitative
criteria that form the heart of the system.
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Two species that may be found in various locations of our operation have been classified into the Red List of Threatened Species
of Croatia:
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Latin Croatian English Category

Ciconia ciconia Bijela roda White stork NT nb*

Castor fiber Linnaeus 1758 Dabar European beaver NT

nb* nesting birds

The white stork is also categorized in the IUCN Red List.



6.16

We have launched an Enhanced Oil Recovery Project by the
CO2 Injection Method, at the IvaniÊ and Æutica Oilfields, with
the aim to increase crude recovery and at the same time
reduce CO2 emissions.  

6.17

No ozone-depleting substances are used in our operations.
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Emissions, Effluents, and Waste

6.15

Air Emissions

INA measures and calculates CO2 emissions to air from stationary sources.

Organizational Unit CO2 emissions (in tons)

Rijeka Oil Refinery - Urinj 801,438

Sisak Oil Refinery 643,778

Rijeka Oil Refinery - Mlaka 100,665

Exploration & Production 995,345

Total 2,541,226

Direct CO
2

Emissions of INA in 2006
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Organizational Unit SO2 Emissions (tons) NO2 Emissions (tons) CO Emissions (tons)

Rijeka Oil Refinery - Urinj 7,147.60 1,552.50 137.55

Sisak Oil Refinery 8,301.26 1,511.43 113.60

Rijeka Oil Refinery - Mlaka 1,768.30 202.40 32.00

Exploration & Production 55.56 997.04 925.74

Retail Network Management Sector 0.00 0.21 0.13

Wholesale 0.22 0.33 0.16

Total 17,272.94 4,263.91 1,209.18

6.18 2006 Air Emissions (by organizational unit)



Water Discharge

6.19 

In 2006, INA discharged 48,828,538 m3 of water.
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Waste

6.20

In 2006, INA produced 6,358.24 tons of hazardous waste and
6,606.73 tons of non-hazardous waste. The waste produced at the
Rijeka and Sisak Oil Refineries was processes by authorized firms.

Exploration & Production disposed of its non-hazardous waste by
injecting it into negative or depleted wells, while the hazardous
waste was delivered to authorized processors. The Retail Network
Management and Logistics Sectors delivered their hazardous and
non-hazardous waste to authorized handlers for further processing. 



6.21 

The Rijeka Oil Refinery - Urinj processes oily waste (residue oil
from tankers after off-loading, sludge from the water/oil sep-
arator, oily water, grease/oil mixtures from the water/oil sep-
arator, and other lubricating oils), by adding the useful hydro-
carbons to crude oil or by incineration, as well as mechanical,
chemical or biological treatment. The remaining oily sediment
is solidified. Thus, in 2006, the Rijeka Oil Refinery processed
1,581.24 tons of hazardous waste, of which 410.82 tons were

used in the refining processes, and 1,170.42 tons were perma-
nently disposed or released into the sea after being treated in
the wastewater treatment plant. 

The Rijeka Oil Refinery - Mlaka regenerates waste barrels and
incinerates I and II-category waste oils. In 2006, the refinery
processed 153.84 tons of waste oils and 50.37 tons of used barrels.
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Exported waste included 49.701 tons of activated carbon satu-
rated with HgS (Germany), and 0.54 tons of lead accumulators
and batteries (Slovenia). 

Accidents with Environmental Impact

6.22

In 2006, INA recorded 17 unforeseen events with environmen-
tal impact, which is 47% less than in the previous year. Eight of
the events had minimal impact on the environment (e.g. small

spills at petrol stations). The accidents were mostly caused by
sudden disruptions in the technological process, pipeline frac-
tures due to deterioration or damaged equipment, while
another frequent cause was attempted robbery. 
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Accident 2005 2006

Process disruptions 5 3

Damaged equipment 9 3

Oil pipeline fracture 10 4

Seawater pipeline fracture 2 2

Pipe fracture 2 2

Spills 4 3

Total 32 17

Cases of unforeseen events with environmental impact



Major Spills
1. Exploration & Production: An oil spill was noticed in the
©tekovica oilfield area in a forest aisle. It was established that
the collector pipeline was leaking. An estimated 2 m3 of crude
oil was spilled, polluting approx. 200 m2 of soil. Clean-up and
pipeline repair began immediately. Damage was estimated at
HRK 100,000. 

2. Naftaplin: During construction work on the pressure-
pipeline route, one of the construction machines collapsed and
damaged the plastic pipe, releasing about 10 m3 of drilling
fluid into the ditch and the surrounding marshland. According
to initial estimates, about 600 m2 of the terrain was polluted.
All appropriate measures were taken immediately: the wells
shut, the pipeline emptied and the seals shut, followed by
clean-up. Estimated damage amounted to HRK 125,000.  

3. Crude Oil and Logistics Sector; Varaædin storage facility:
During tank-truck loading, fuel began to leak through the pipe
air-valve. The controls were turned off immediately, prevent-
ing further spilling. About 460 kg of fuel oil spilled into the soil.
Investigation of the outlet separator established that there
was no fuel present, thus eliminating the possibility of it leak-

ing into the sewage system. Improper operation of the separa-
tor is suspected. Damage is estimated at HRK 2,600.  

4. Rijeka Oil Refinery - Mlaka: Bitumen was spilled onto the
road, equipment, landings and access stairs, when filling a
tank-truck with industrial bitumen. According to initial assess-
ments, approx. 500-700 kg of bitumen were spilled. The area
was secured immediately, and the road sealed off for traffic up
to the entrance weighbridge. An authorized firm was engaged
for clean-up.

6.23

There is no information regarding water bodies and related
habitats being significantly affected by our discharges of
water and runoff. Quite the contrary, we are proud of our co-
existence with the natural environment. A good example of
the harmony between nature and our operations is the
Lonjsko Polje nature park located only a few kilometres from
the Sisak Oil Refinery. 
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Organizational Unit Number of Unforeseen Events

Exploration & Production 6

Rijeka Oil Refinery - Urinj 4

Sisak Oil Refinery 1

Rijeka Oil Refinery - Mlaka 1

Retail Network Management Sector 3

Logistics Sector 2

Total 17

Unforeseen events in 2006



Products and Services

6.24

Each year INA implements numerous projects directly or indi-
rectly associated with environmental protection. The aim of
these projects is to upgrade the eco-efficiency of our opera-
tions by reducing pollutant emissions into the surroundings of
all our production, refining, storage, and retail facilities, as well
as improve functionality and safe operation of the processing
plants, rationalize the use of energy, raw materials, and other
input materials for the production of low-sulphur diesel fuels
and petrol. 

Since 2004, at all INA petrol stations we have arranged yellow
waste bins for oily plastic packaging, anti-freeze packaging,
and other plastic packaging, as well as red bins for all other oily
waste such as oily rags, gloves, and other oily material. The col-
lection, transport, and disposal of this waste has been entrust-
ed to an authorized firm.     

Since January 1, 2006, we have discontinued the sale of lead-
ed petrol, in compliance with our legal obligation regarding
fuel quality in the domestic market. Simultaneously, we
began with the sale of low-sulphur fuels according to the
EURO IV standard. 

Compliance

6.25

1. In 2006, there were no fines paid for non-compliance with
environmental laws and regulations.

2. Non-monetary sanctions involve our obligations specified
by environmental inspection authorities (required costs
were paid):
• Due to exceptionally high immission concentrations of SO2 

and H2S in the Sisak Refinery, a sanction was issued requiring
the Sisak Refinery to connect to the automatic monitoring 
station Sisak 1 within the national network, in order to provide
insight to the ten-minute data on specific air quality indicators
in the suburb of Caprag, and respond promptly in regard to 
reducing the plant’s emissions. 

• Pressure pipeline fracture at the ©androvac plant: INA acted
in accordance with the Operative Remediation 
Plan/Program, and paid remediation costs (HRK 125,000).

• Fracture of the Struæec-Sisak oil pipeline at Topolovec. About
100-200 litres of oil spilled onto private property and caused
damage to farmland. INA paid the remediation costs (HRK 
50,000), and took measures in accordance with the 
Operative Remediation Plan/Program. 

• Stationary-source monitoring was not conducted at the 
Okoli plant. Monitoring performed in 2003 indicated that 
nitrogen-oxide emissions exceeded the permitted threshold
over 3 times. It is necessary to monitor air emissions from 
stationary sources of power greater than 0.5 MV at least 
once a year. The appropriate measures shall be taken to 
reduce various  emissions up to the limits allowed by 
Jan 1, 2009.

Environmental Fees

6.26 

In 2006, INA paid HRK 144,200 for non-hazardous waste,
which is required of all legal persons for the disposal of non-
hazardous waste at the relevant dumps. The fee for hazardous
waste is paid for produced, but not treated or exported waste.
Since we deliver all our hazardous waste to authorized proces-
sors, we pay no environmental fee for hazardous waste.  
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In 2006, our environmental fee for SO2 emissions amounted to HRK 4,464.245, and HRK 1,005,910 for NO2. 



In our business and operations in 2006, we were charged with
four types of water-management fees:

1. Water-use fee - based on the water volume used
2. Water-protection fee - based on the volume and 

pollution level of discharged water
3. Water fee - a one-time payment for construction of 

open or closed facilities (by volume of newly constructed
facilities), and depends on the facility’s location and type

4. Water development fee - replaces the previous 
water-basin fee

Total water-management fees paid by INA in 2006 amounted
to HRK 29,156,907, of which 62% accounts for the water devel-
opment fee. The Sisak Oil Refinery paid the highest share (63%)
in total water management fees.
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Sources:  

INA d.d. 2006 Balance Sheet
INA-Glasnik, No. 1873, April 25, 2006
Waste Register, INA, 2006  
Emissions Register, INA, 2006
Water Discharges Register, INA, 2006
www.cro-nen.hr
www.iucnredlist.org
Environmental Protection Act, Official Gazette 82/94
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Labour Practices and Decent Work

INA’s goal is to employ young highly educated people who are
prepared to take on the challenges of every-day work at our
company, and continuously gain new knowledge required in
our work processes. Incentive severance measures are used to
stimulate outflow of older employees.  

The Collective Agreement and Labour Regulations of INA regu-
late the working conditions, employer and employee rights
and obligations, employee dignity protection, wages, and
other work-associated issues.

All applications for employment are submitted to our
Personnel Department of the Human Resources Sector, which
is also in charge of all other employment-related affairs. 

In accordance with the Labour Act, we have in place clearly
defined procedures for the exchange of information, consulta-
tions, and negotiations between the management and
employee representatives in regard to issues of mutual inter-
est. Before passing any decision relevant to the status of our
employees, the management consults with the Union repre-
sentative, especially in the process of developing labour regu-

lations, operational changes, or redundant labour manage-
ment programs. 

Several regulations govern internal communication and
employees’ participation in management, of which some are
specific to certain organizational units. 

Provisions are made for two-way communication - down from
management to employees - and up from employees to man-
agement, respecting hierarchy. Management regularly
informs employees on the business management policy, the
set goals, and the tasks, plans and rules for the attainment of
these goals. Employees-to-management communication is
achieved through reports on plan and goal realization.
Information regarding the efficiency of the business manage-
ment system includes defined process non-conformities. The
management responds to queries of interested parties by
using the internal communication procedure to consult with
the relevant officer or to authorize the relevant officer to com-
municate directly.

Social Aspect
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Labour/Management Sources of Information
• INA Glasnik (fortnightly)
• INA »asopis (magazine) 
• Internal newspapers -RNR info 
• INA info
• Intranet
• Internal regulations, decisions
• Management/union meetings
• Business meetings
• Director/worker individual talks

• Focus groups
• INA© - union bulletin
• SING  - union bulletin
• Sindikalna rijeË - EKN bulletin of Rijeka 
• Meetings with the Board president and union representatives
• Meetings with individual Board members
• Meetings with individual Sector directors
• Meetings with the director of Human Resources
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Occupational Health and Safety

Occupational health and safety activities also include work
and fire safety. Mainly they are implemented through:
• The HSE Work Group

• Advisory bodies (Central Occupational Safety Committee, 
Occupational Safety Committees at micro-organizational 
level, and the Occupational Safety Subcommittee of individual
macro-organizational units, such as technological process, 
sites or regions).

Pursuant to the Occupational Safety Act, the director of our
corporate HSE Sector is appointed by the INA Board to dis-
charge activities regarding occupational safety.

The health and safety system compliant with OHSAS 18001
specifications has been set up in our Exploration &
Production Division, the Rijeka Oil Refinery, the Sisak Oil
Refinery, Maziva Rijeka, while in our Retail Division it is still in
the introductory phase. 

Training and Education

The Human Resources Sector is in charge of conceiving and
organizing educational programs, such as computer courses
(ECDL), education, professional training according to the busi-
ness management system (ISO 9001,  ISO 14001 and OHSAS
18001), safe-work training, various levels of English courses,
professional lectures on new and existent national and EU leg-
islation regarding HSE (waste, water management), oil and
gas exploitation, oil terminals, LPG terminals, underground
storage facilities, computer-related health risks, project man-
agement courses, improvement of presentation skills, semi-
nars for employees working on energy-market-related jobs,
seminars on stress management, training for storage-facility
management, as well as business schools (EMBA), under-grad-
uate and post-graduate studies.
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Corporate HSE Co-ordination (December 31, 2006)



Diversity and Equal Opportunity

INA abides by the principle of offering equal employment
opportunity to everyone, in compliance with the Constitution,
the Labour Act, and other relevant regulations of the Republic
of Croatia, as well as with the defined goals of our Human
Resources Management Policy.

The Collective Agreement and Labour Regulations of INA, as well as
other internal documents regulate workers’ rights and obligations.

Implementation of equal opportunity is monitored by adopting

and applying relevant business management documents, such as:
• The Human Resources Management Procedure
• Process list of the Personnel Department
• Records of process goal assessment and attainment
• Internal Audit Procedure

The worker’s unions actively keep track of the status of disabled
workers, women (women’s activity groups in all three unions), and
war veterans. The unions acknowledge INA’s efforts in taking respon-
sibility for the special needs of disabled workers when appointing
them to jobs, as well as the positive role of the social workers in each
organizational unit supporting the special needs workers.
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Employment

7.1 Employee structure (December 31, 2006)



As a rule, INA employs workers in the Republic of Croatia, how-
ever, a certain number of workers (104) were employed through
our Exploration and Production branches in Libya and Syria.

7.2 Employee turnover in 2006

Mostly older workers are terminating their employment under
the incentive severance measures, while we continue to
employ young, highly educated staff. Our Retail Division has a
high turnover of workers due to the fact that our petrol sta-
tions employ temporary workers during the tourist season or
as replacements for absentees. 

7.3

Under the Collective Agreement and Labour Regulations, our
workers are entitled to certain benefits, which are otherwise
legally optional. These benefits have been a standard part of
all our collective agreements so far. 
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2006

NEW EMPLOYMENTS - TOTAL 338

OF WHICH TRAINEES 32

ATTENDANTS 221

OF WHICH ATTENDANTS - PERMANENT 7

ATTENDANTS - TEMPORARY 214

2006

TERMINATED EMPLOYMENTS - TOTAL 445

OF WHICH PERMANENT EMPLOYMENTS 323

TEMPORARY EMPLOYMENTS 122

New employments at INA in 2006

Terminated employments at INA in 2006



Labour/Management Relations

7.4

Our Collective Agreement covers all our workers, permanent or temporary.
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INA© - Worker’s Union of SING - INA and Oil Economy EKN - Chemical, Energy, Mine, Total
INA and INA Zagreb Subsidiaries Worker’s Union and General Worker’s

3,981 3,978 1,684 9,643

Health and Safety

7.5

We have 57 employees working on occupational safety and fire
safety jobs, half of which simultaneously carry out occupation-

al and fire safety jobs, while a part of them also carry out envi-
ronmental protection jobs. 

Organizational Unit Number of workers

Management Board, Corporate Functions 5

Exploration & Production Division 22

Logistics Sector, Commercial Affairs Sector, Supply Chain Management Sector 2

Rijeka Oil Refinery 6

Sisak Oil Refinery 4

Retail Network Management Sector 18

Total: 57

7.6

Occupational safety and security is one of our corporate priorities.
In the past ten years, INA has recorded no occupational disease or
fatality. Up to the year 2006, we registered a continuous decline in
on-the-job injuries, followed by a slight increase of 3.7% which only
involves minor injuries. In 2006 there were no expensive injuries.

In 2006, we lost 832,279 hours on account of sick-leave, of
which 415,574 hours were covered by INA, and 416,705 hours by
health insurance. 

Number of Union Members in 2006

Occupational Safety and Fire Safety Workforce in 2006
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7.7

Training, as a special rule of occupational safety, is the most impor-
tant preventive activity required for performing occupational safe-
ty and fire safety jobs. This implies providing a healthy and safe
working environment for all persons, who on whatever basis, are
working in INA premises. More and more of our workers have come
to understand that safety, apart from complying to rules and regu-
lations, also means a healthy and safe working environment. 

Where basic occupational safety regulations are inadequate for the
elimination of hazards or risks (established by a risk assessment),
compulsory training is held according to the specific requirements
of the organizational unit involved. 

In 2006, our general and specialized safety training involved 4,568
workers. A total of 36 demonstration tactical drills were carried out
aimed at testing fire-fighting techniques and the training level of
the employees.

By taking care of our employees’ health and by improving work-
ing conditions, we create a healthy working environment.



The month of May is traditionally fire-safety month. This is a
month of numerous lectures and drills in fire prevention and
effective fire safety, involving workers from all organizational
units of INA.

In April 2006, we marked the World Day for Health and
Safety at Work with a series of professional lectures and a
blood-pressure measuring campaign, especially emphasiz-
ing the importance of being informed when it comes to pre-
ventive healthcare.

7.8

Pursuant to our collective agreement and the funds allocated
for 2006, INA signed an agreement referring all workers to
annual physical examinations.

INA has three active workers’ unions: the INA and Oil Economy
Workers’ Union (Croatian acronym: SING), the Workers’ Union
of INA and INA Zagreb Subsidiaries (Croatian acronym: INA©),
and the Chemical, Energy, Mine, and General Workers’ Union
(Croatian acronym: EKN). All three unions participate in the
formulation and implementation of the Collective Agreement.

INA is one of the pioneers in collective bargaining in Croatia.
This year we celebrate ten years since our first collective agree-
ment, which set forth new standards in the Republic of
Croatia, e.g. the forty-hour week. This agreement was the basis
for all subsequent negotiations between management and
the unions, aiming at improving the material and other status
of our employees.   

Our healthcare program includes annual physical examina-
tions, constant medical care for workers with special working
conditions, and medical treatment and rehabilitation in our
Naftalan therapeutic complex.

Article 78 of the INA d.d. Collective Agreement requires the
Management to undertake all measures necessary to ensure
employee health and safety, including prevention of work-
related risk. 

Article 81 of the INA d.d. Collective Agreement requires the
Management to provide annual physical examinations for all
employees or private health insurance in the amount of the
funds allocated for that purpose.
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Training and Education

7.9

We signed a voluntary health insurance policy for our workers,
which provides them faster and better medical services. 

Article 92 of the INA d.d. Collective Agreement requires the
Management to provide special healthcare (treatment,
active recreation) for special-needs workers (disabled war
veterans, invalids).  
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Note: Since a significant number of our employees had to attent SAP training, many of the planned programs and courses for the year 2006 remained unrealized (the table above
does not show the number of employees that passed SAP training)

Type of education / training In-house / Out-of-house Number of employees 

2006 2005 2004

1 2 3 4 5

1. Introductory training In-house 86 26

2. Internship In-house 154 174 99

3. Safe-work training 1,404 988 744

4. Studying while working Out-of-house 418 301 279

5. Professional training In-house / Out-of-house 2,291 2,511 1,841

6. Additional training - computer, foreign languages,

middle and top management, quality 

management system In-house / Out-of-house 6,660 5,888 6,933

7. Practical training and specializations 23 0 11

8. Scholarships for secondary-school and university students

(Top Scholarships + scholarships to 3 Syrian students) 13 13 10

9. Practical training for secondary-school and university students In-house 712 1,110 686

Total 11,675 11,071 10,629

Employee Training and Education



7.10

Regarding computer training, an extensive ECDL course is
being held for 3,000 of our employees, INA being one of the
first companies in Croatia to organize this course.  

INA was awarded the Crystal Globe by the Croatian
Information Technology Society for its contribution to com-
puter literacy and for introducing ECDL to Croatia.

An increasing number of employees are studying while work-
ing full time, which is consistent with our set goal to provide
continual training of young, highly educated staff - new-gen-

eration senior executives ready to take on the challenges of
modern-day business. 

The purpose of continually educating our employees is not
only to raise their level of knowledge and job performance in
all stages of the work processes, but also to elevate their
awareness in regard to human health and safety, environmen-
tal protection and preservation, as well as business ethics. 

7.11

Pursuant to our Labour Regulations, the performance of every
employee is evaluated regularly. 
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Date Total workforce Women Percentage of women (3/2)

1 2 3 4

Dec 31, 2006 10,183 2,529 24.84

Dec 31, 2005 10,290 2,544 24.72

Dec 31, 2004 10,444 2,527 24.2

Dec 31, 2003 10,325 2,497 24.2

Dec 31, 2002 10,903 2,474 22.7

Dec 31, 2001 13,537 2,910 21.5

Date Employees with special contracts (managers) Women Percentage of women (3/2)

1 2 3 4

Dec 31, 2006 65 16 24.62

Dec 31, 2005 63 17 26.98

Dec 31, 2004 57 13 22.81

Dec 31, 2003 40 4 10.0

Dec 31, 2002 38 5 13.2

Dec 31, 2001 40 3 7.5

Diversity and Equal Opportunity

7.12

The percentage of women in the workforce is relatively low
due to a majority of jobs being traditionally men’s jobs. 

Number and percentage of women in the workforce

Composition of governance bodies (including the Management Board) - Men-to-women Ratio
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7.13

The men-to-women basic salary ratio by employee category is 1:1.

Human Rights

Investment and Procurement Practices

Our procurement policy is based on transparency, flexibility,
rationality, and compliance. INA’s procurement process allows
for mutually beneficial relations with suppliers with the aim of
creating added value for both parties, which gives pleasure to
all participants in the procurement process. In our business
relations with all our suppliers and contractors, we are guided
by the general principles of equality, fairness, and impartiality
in the bidding process, thus encouraging market competition.

Non-discrimination

Our Labour Regulations, as well as our Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics protect our employees from any form of
racial, sexual, marital, age, language, religious, or political
discrimination, as well as discrimination regarding any other
convictions, national or social origin, financial status, birth
status, social position, membership or non-membership in
political parties or unions, or physical or mental impairment,
aimed at or actually violating employee dignity and thereby
causing fear or producing a hostile, demeaning or disrespect-
ful environment.  

Freedom of Association and Collective Bargaining

INA employees are free to associate in unions in compliance
with international conventions, legal regulations, our
Collective Agreement and Labour Regulations. There are three
trade unions active in INA: the INA and Oil Economy Workers’
Union (SING), the Workers’ Union of INA and INA Zagreb
Subsidiaries (INA©), and the Chemical, Energy, Mine, and
General Workers’ Independent Union (EKN)  All three trade

unions were organised in INA at the beginning of the 1990’s
following the Croatian society’s transition to democracy.More
than 90% of INA employees, with the exception of managers,
are union members. Our employees participate in the deci-
sion-making process about issues regarding their economic
and social rights and interests, in the manner and terms as
set out in the Labour Act, our Collective Agreement and
Labour Regulations. 

The unions independently determine methods of operation
and representation of their members’ interests, as well as
independently appoint their representatives or delegates. Each
union may appoint or elect one union representative for every
500 of its members; one more representative respectively if
the number of its remaining members exceeds 250. These
union representatives protect and promote member rights
and interests. 

Since INA has no established labour body, these duties are dis-
charged by the union representative appointed every four
months alternatively by all three unions. Since the beginning
of collective bargaining at INA (1996), provisions of the
Collective Agreement apply only to union members. However,
the Management extends these provisions to all other non-
union members by separate corporate resolution. During the
effective period of the Collective Agreement, a committee
comprised of three Management representatives and three
union representatives is appointed to interpret the collective
agreement. This committee passes decisions by consensus,
and meets as required (every three months on average). The
key challenge of this committee is effecting its decisions at
lower organisational levels. It is therefore suggested that the
committee should systematically inform the relevant officers
about the its mandate and obligations to effect its decisions.



Child Labour

INA does not employ under-age workers. However, there is a
tradition of employing our workers’ children (secondary school
and college students) at our petrol stations over the summer
holidays washing windshields. This way, they earn their pock-
et money by accepting tips from our customers.  They are
engaged on their own behalf and on their own account, by
approval of INA, to perform these jobs without pay.

Each employed child is also given instructions on safe practices
and conduct at petrol stations as well as information regard-
ing occupational safety and fire safety. In addition, each child
is insured against work injury.

As a rule, persons of age are employed for these jobs, while
minors no younger than 16 may be employed from June 15 to
September 9 only with written permission from their parents,
and only for a period of two weeks. This policy of youth season-
al work sets a higher standard in comparison to legal regula-
tions, where the minimum age for employment is 15, as pre-
scribed by the Labour Law of the Republic of Croatia, and
Article 3 of the C138 International Worker Minimum Age
Convention from 1973. 

Disciplinary and Grievance Practices

Our workers’ rights, duties, and responsibilities are regulated
by the Labour Act and the Collective Agreement, which deter-
mines more favourable terms, e.g. longer notice periods than
those defined by the Labour Act.

If a worker considers INA to have violated any of his/her rights,
including those defined by the Collective Agreement, he/she
may, within a determined period starting from the date of the
decision by which his/her rights were violated, request fulfil-
ment of those rights. If INA fails to respond to the grievance

within the determined period, the worker is entitled to appeal
to a court of jurisdiction. 

The disciplinary procedure for a worker in violation of his/her
duties includes the following:
• A written warning of duty violation with implications for 

dismissal;

• If the worker persists in violating his duties, the employer 
may issue a regular dismissal with an appropriate notice 
period;  

• Exceptionally serious violations are resolved with dismissals
effective as of the date the worker is notified of the dismissal
in writing.

Previous to initiating a regular dismissal procedure, due to a work-
er’s misconduct, INA is required to warn the worker of his/her
duties, and of possible dismissal if he/she continues to violate
duties. Likewise, prior to regular or immediate dismissal due to a
worker’s misconduct, the worker is entitled to state his defence.
The employer is required to notify the union of the intended dis-
missal, but is not bound to the union’s opinions. Acting as the
labour counsel, the union representative should be informed by
the employer of the intended dismissal. In case of dismissal, the
worker is entitled to submit to the employer a request for the pro-
tection of his/her labour rights, and if the request is denied, the
worker is entitled to appeal to any court of jurisdiction. In 2006,
INA cautioned 98 employees, issued 40 regular dismissals due to
misconduct, and issued 14 immediate dismissals.

We also have a committee appointed for receiving and solving
employee dignity-related grievances. 

Our Human Resources Sector is in charge of aspects of human rights.
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Human Rights Indicators

7.14

In 2006, no mobbing complaints were received.

7.15

No operations in INA have been identified as a threat to exer-
cise freedom of association and collective bargaining.

7.16

In the summer months of 2006, our petrol stations engaged
about 7,000 children to wash our customer’s windshields and
thus earn pocket money by accepting their tips. No injury or
accident was recorded.  

7.17

Our Collective Agreement defines that overtime work can-
not be assigned to disabled workers without their consent,
while night shifts cannot be assigned to workers under the
age of 18, expectant mothers or mothers with children
under the age of 2, single parents with children under the
age of 5, a parent of a disabled child, a disabled worker, a
women worker over the age of 55 or a male worker over the
age of 60. 

Society

Community

In order to fulfil our mission and achieve our vision, it is essen-
tial that we commit to the expectations and goals of all inter-
est parties, including the communities in which we operate.
Therefore, one of our core values is to maintain awareness of
the INA brand through close cooperation with communities,
respecting their cultural, national and regional characteristics. 
INA adjusts to the specific needs of all its host communities, as
well as supplies the population with energy and lubricants.

Our relations with our suppliers of oil, gas, lubricants, LPG and
other commodities and services are correct, while we give pri-
ority to domestic companies.

We continue to develop a partnership relation with the local
community and general society with whom we have open and
honest communication. We also regularly report on our CSR
activities, in order to provide the public and all our key stake-
holders a complete insight into the direct and indirect effects
of our operations on the economic, social, and environmental
aspects of life.

INA also helps the community in humanitarian, cultural, edu-
cational, sport, environmental, healthcare, and scientific proj-
ects in the form of donations and sponsorships, as well as
investments into a series of non-profit activities essential to
the overall quality of life. 

We also encourage our workers to volunteer their time and
skills to social, healthcare and environmental campaigns or
organizations.  

Our business management defines the Corrective Measures
Procedure and the Preventive Measures Procedure. In case of
any environmental impact deriving from our plants, the local
community is notified immediately and remedial action is
taken. INA’s permanent interest is to gain the trust of the local
community with our rehabilitation programs and schedules
aimed at eliminating the damaging effects on human health
and environment. 



Corruption

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics among other
includes, anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy.

The Internal Audit and Control Sector is a macro-organisation-
al unit of INA, which audits business activities by order of the
Management and Supervisory Boards in accordance with the
provisions of Article 38 of the Organisational Structure of INA,.
The Sector’s Director receives all reports of illegal activity,
including cases of bribery and corruption. If a “case” can be
handled by internal control, a work-order is issued and a report
compiled of the audit performed. If internal control fails to find
evidence, the case is passed on to the Business Crime
Department of the Ministry of Internal Affairs.

Free market competition

Due to the presence of several other oil companies in the mar-
ket, INA is exposed to free market competition, and operates in
compliance with market competition regulations.

Compliance

INA’s business processes are compliant with national laws and
regulations, and international legislation ratified by Croatia.  

The Corporate Communications Sector is in charge of a series
of promotional activities and communication with the public
in the form of press releases, response to certain articles, noti-
fications, explanations, TV broadcasts, etc. INA is ever more
present at various fairs, professional gatherings (Fuel and
Lubricants Symposium, International Gas Meeting). This sector
also has the role to conceive and implement promotional cam-
paigns for our retail outlets. 

INA has set up an Investor Relations Sector with the task of
regulating communication with the Zagreb and London Stock
Exchanges. All material information disclosed at meetings
with analysts or investor representatives must be disclosed
simultaneously to the stock exchanges and the public in order
to ensure free access to information
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7.18

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics includes the anti-
bribery and anti-corruption policy. It is available to all employ-
ees on the Intranet. 

7.19

INA influences public and business policy through business
associations in Croatia and abroad. INA is member of national
and regional associations of Mediterranean states dealing in
energy and environmental protection, while national associa-
tions give us the opportunity to act globally.

Our employees are members of national and international
expert associations and active participants in congresses, sym-
posia, workshops, and other gatherings worldwide. By acting
through these associations, our employees participate in the
creation and enactment of policy and legislation.

Product Responsibility 

INA standards incorporate international and European stan-
dard requirements. The government of the Republic of
Croatia passed the Decree on Liquid Petroleum Fuel Quality,
in the preparation of which INA took part. The decree pre-
scribes the quality characteristics of liquid petroleum fuels in
compliance with European directives. Since INA is unable to
fulfil all the prescribed limit values, we were granted our
request to release on the domestic market a certain quantity
of non-compliant fuels.

INA is constantly adjusting its fuel quality to EU requirements.
This especially regards the reduction of the sulphur, benzene, and
aromatics content, as potentially dangerous fuel components.

Since January 1, 2006, leaded petrol is withdrawn from the
Croatian market. 

INA implements health and safety measures at its petrol sta-
tions through regular cleaning and maintenance of the traffic
area (forecourt), regular maintenance and technical supervi-
sion by authorised institutions, providing conspicuous operat-
ing instructions for petrol-station devices and equipment, and
warnings of prohibited actions/behaviour at petrol stations. 

All our commercial products have appropriately prepared
Technical Safety Data Sheets containing basic information on
the product, risk data, recommended safety precautions,
transportation and emergency instructions. Danger signs are
also included on the packaging.

INA develops standards based on verified scientific, technical
and practical results, with the objective to provide guidelines
and features for our products, processes, services, human
health and safety, in the aim to achieve the highest possible
degree of order in particular circumstances.

In order to produce EURO 5 fuel, in 2006 we launched our
refinery modernization project worth more than one bil-
lion dollars. 

Our commitment to the quality and safety of our products is
emphasized in our Quality Management Policy.

The business policy of our Retail Network Management Sector
includes all three systems - quality assurance, environmental
management, and health & safety. Implementation is in
progress of the OHSAS health and safety management system.
Product responsibility is distributed at the highest corporate



level among the executive directors of our Exploration and
Production, Refining and Marketing, and Retail Divisions.

INA implemented several provisions of the new Consumer
Protection Act to its operations even before its adoption.
Although not legally obligated, we appointed a consumer
complaints committee in our Retail Sector with the basic
objective to promote partnership relations with our customers
and other stakeholders. The committee comprises representa-
tives from our Retail Sector, the Croatian Energy Regulatory
Agency, the Consumer Society, and the Consumer Association.
Its main role is to propose and perform activities required to
inform and educate our customers, and thereby gain a higher
level of trust.

Internal procedures regarding monitoring, corrective and
preventive measures are included in the business manage-
ment system, in accordance with internationally recognized
ISO standards. 

89 Social Aspect



90Product Responsibility

Product Responsibility Indicators

7.20

Product and Service Labelling

Awareness of the potential threats we pose to the environ-
ment with improper refining processes, transportation or stor-
age of our oil products, and application of strict European stan-
dards, compels us to control all work processes rigorously.
Along with fuel, INA produces a series of different commercial
products such as motor and industrial oils, lubricants, greases,
and additives, most frequently marketed in plastic packaging.
Product labelling is compliant with legal regulations and pro-
fessional standards. Each label contains the product’s trade
name, its basic technical characteristics and use instructions,
and conveys an attractive promotional message. The label con-
tents are multi-lingual, while labels on export products are
adjusted to the standards of the foreign market. 

The product labels on most of our lubricant assortment are
registered with the State Intellectual Property Office as
industrial designs, while the product names are registered as
trademarks.

Our Corporate Communications Sector and the marketing
departments of Maziva Rijeka and Sisak implement our corpo-

rate advertising policy based on relevant laws and internal reg-
ulations. The final design of advertisements is subcontracted
with designers and marketing agencies. 

In 2006, we had no incidents of non-compliance with regula-
tions concerning product and service information and
labelling. Moreover, there was no incident concerning health
and safety impacts of our products or services, nor any com-
plaints from relevant authorities. 

7.21

Customer Satisfaction

Our market surveys, which are performed by specialised agencies,
guarantee respondents confidentiality of any given information.

Each of our prize competitions and games is subject to a set of
rules that is verified by the Croatian Ministry of Economy. By
playing the game, the entrants agree to these rules, which also
define disclosure of the winner’s identity by releasing his/her
personal information, as well as using the information and the
person for advertising purposes. 

Every year we conduct a telephone survey on a random sample
of more than one-thousand people from all over the country in



order to determine customer’s satisfaction. The results not
only help us to correct our advertising campaigns, eliminate
any inadequacies, but also are used in the analysis of our
future market appearances. So far, all our survey results have
mostly been positive, confirming our good business practices. 

INA Toll-Free Telephone Number

INA was one of the first companies in Croatia, which in 1997
installed a toll-free telephone line for direct communication
with our customers and the wider public.

The average number of incoming calls per day has increased
from seven in 1997 to 50 in 2006. The number of calls increas-
es during prize games at petrol stations, after price changes,
during the heating season (for supply of heating fuel), and
other current events. The information officers operating the
toll-free phone make their best to respond to each call prompt-
ly and efficiently. The issues not under their competence are
immediately  referred to the relevant department. The toll-free
number is in service 24 hours a day, and during off-hours, calls

are automatically recorded. The primary rule of the toll-free
number is that every call gets an answer with guaranteed pri-
vacy, since caller information should not be disclosed to third
parties other than those taking part in rendering the informa-
tion or dealing with the complaint.

According to the prescribed operating procedures of the INA
toll-free number 0800-1112, weekly reports are compiled indi-
cating typical calls throughout a certain period, which are sub-
mitted regularly to the management. Concerning complaints
passed on to relevant departments, the weekly report offers
information as to their resolution.

The highest number of calls were processed in 2005 due to our
prize competition “Lucky Code” involving 1,000 prizes daily. 

The permanent contact with our customers through the toll-free
number indicates that calls seeking information are traditionally
the most frequent, followed by complaint calls involving our serv-
ices, product quality, deficient equipment, or tank-truck drivers.
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Compliance with Advertising Standards

7.22

Operation in an increasingly demanding and competitive market also
requires an adequate advertising policy. In advertising, we comply to
professional standards and ethics, the Consumer Protection Act, the
Healthcare Act, and other relevant internal regulations.

The advertising of our products and related activities fall under
the Marketing Communications Department of the Corporate
Communications Sector. In accordance with our basic strategic
goals, our vision and mission, the Marketing Communications
Department presents the company through its business results
and efficiency of its activities, products and services on both the
national and foreign markets, with the aim to gain a position as
a desirable partner. There is a permanent co-operation and asso-
ciation with buyers through promotional activities, campaigns,
communication, surveys, notification of new products, services,
purchasing terms, sponsorship, and cause-related activities.
Presentation of the company’s concern for the wellbeing of its

employees, health-care, safety, and the environment is actually
just a small part of our advertising policy.

The advertising process starts with a request from a certain
segment, and its basic guidelines are the basis upon which the
Corporate Marketing Department designs the concept and
media plan for advertising. Thereupon, the final version is
adopted jointly and the campaign is launched.

Based on business plans of different segments, the Corporate
Communications Sector collects their annual advertising
requirements. After that the summed up requirements are
transformed into a detailed annual plan of all advertising and
promotional campaigns, fairs, public relations, and other.

7.23

No substantiated complaints were received in 2006 regarding
breaches of customer privacy, or regarding non-compliance
with marketing and advertising regulations. 
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Personnel records
Communication in Environmental Management, INA,
December, 2001
INA Employee turnover and structure, Dec 31, 2001, 2002,
2003, 2004, 2005, and 2006
INA-Glasnik (fortnightly) No. 1887,  Nov 28, 2006
Liquid Petroleum Fuels Quality Decree, Official Gazette 53/06
Consumer Protection Act, Official Gazette 96/03
Health Protection Act, Official Gazette 121/03
Public Procurement Act, Official Gazette 193/03
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Market Competition Act, Official Gazette 48/95, 52/97,
89/98, 122/03
Public Informing Act, Official Gazette 22/02
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Reply card

(Your opinion is highly appreciated!)

1) Do you consider this report:
a) Informative ________
b) Fairly informative ________
c) Uninformative ________

2) What in your opinion does this report lack?
______________________________________________

3) Do you consider the information useful? 
______________________________________________

4) What information do you consider particularly useful and
interesting?

______________________________________________

5) What could we do to improve the report?
______________________________________________

6) Evaluate the following features of the report from 1 to 5.
Note: 1 - very poor 5 - excellent
______________________________________________

• Substance
• Clarity
• Openness
• Credibility
• Goals

7) Do you wish to receive this report in future?
Yes No

8) You are a:
customer-shareholder-employee-other firm-public

9) Your comments and suggestions: 
______________________________________________

______________________________________________

___________________________________________

10) Your name and address:

______________________________________________

______________________________________________

Please send the completed reply car by FAX to: 
01/2381-694

For further information, please FAX your contact information
to us, and an INA representative will be pleased to contact you.

TOLL-FREE NUMBER FOR INFORMATION AND COMPLAINTS: 
0800-1112

Let INA know

95

�



96References - bibliography and individuals

References - bibliography 

and individuals

Bibliography

INA Parent Company 2006 Balance Sheet 
State Bureau of Statistics 
INA 2004, 2005, 2006 Financial Report 
INA 2005 Annual Report, INA, 2006
INA Glasnik, No.1886,  Nov 14, 2006
INA Glasnik, No.1888, Dec 19, 2006
INA Glasnik, No. 1884, Oct 17, 2006
INA Glasnik, No. 1885, Oct 31, 2006
INA Glasnik, No. 1886, Nov 14, 2006
INA Glasnik, No. 1887, Nov 28, 2006
INA Glasnik, No. 1873, Apr 25, 2006
INA Glasnik, No. 1883, Oct 3, 2006
INA Glasnik, No. 1888, Dec 19, 2006
INA Glasnik, No. 1894, Mar 27, 2007
INA Employee turnover and structure, Dec 31, 2001, 2002, 2003,
2004, 2005, and 2006
Personnel Records
Emissions Register, INA, 2006
Water Discharges Register, INA, 2006
Waste Register, INA, 2006  
INA Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, INA,  2007
Collective Agreement, INA, Apr 12, 2006
Communication in INA Organisational Units, INA, May 2006
Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Officials in
International Business Transactions, OECD, Finance, Fiscal and
Enterprise Agency, April 1998
INA Corporate Strategy 2006-2015, Dec 2005
Decision-making Authorisation List, INA, 2005

C138 Minimum Age Convention, Geneva, 1973
C29 Forced Labour Convention, Geneva, 1930
Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to
Organise Convention, San Francisco, 1948
C98 Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining, Geneva, 1949
C105 Abolition of Forced Labour Convention, Geneva, 1957
Mezzoorganization of the Strategy & Corporate Business
Development Sector, INA, 2004
Basic organizational standards of INA d.d., INA, 2007
INA Paid Wages Operational Report for December 2006, and
Jan-Dec 2006
INA Business Records, 2004, 2005, 2006
Poslovni dnevnik, May 31, 2007
INA Supervisory Board Rules of Procedure, INA, 2003
INA Management Board Rules of Procedure, INA, 2005
Authorizations for Business Correspondence Regulations, INA,
May, 2003
INA Labour Regulations, INA , Sept, 2006
Labour Regulations, INA, 2004
Ekonomske vijesti, No. 3449, Sept/Oct, 2006
INA Prospectus, Merrill Lynch International, 2006
INA’s Articles of Association, Zagreb, 2003
www.cro-nen.hr
www.globalreporting.org
www.Ina.hr
www.iucnredlist.org 
Decree on Liquid Petroleum Fuel Quality, Official Gazette 53/06
Public Informing Act, Official Gazette 22/02
Public Procurement Act, Official Gazette 193/03
Procurement of Goods and Contract Awarding Act, Official
Gazette 142/97 
Accounting Act, Official Gazette, 146/2005



Labour Act, Official Gazette, 38/95; 54/95; 65/95; 17/01; 82/01; 114/03 
Occupational Safety Act, Official Gazette 59/96; 94/96; 114/03
Environmental Protection Act, Official Gazette 82/94
Consumer Protection Act, Official Gazette 96/03 
Fire Safety Act, Official Gazette 58/93
Market Competition Act, Official Gazette 48/95, 52/97, 89/98, 122/03
Health Protection Act, Official Gazette 121/03

Individuals:

AsiÊ Pukljak Rosana, Quality Management Sector
Barnjak Dubravka, Health, Safety and Environment Sector
Barπnik Ilonka, Planning, Controlling and Resource Allocation
Sector
BeliniÊ-Gak Jadranka, Quality Management Sector 
BertoviÊ Lidija, MSc.,  Health, Safety and Environment Sector
BoriÊ Jadranka, Quality Management Sector
»olak Dubravka, Human Resources Sector
Drauπnik Saπa, Human Resources Sector
GaliÊ Anela, Human Resources Sector
GaliÊ Mate, Logistics Sector
GrubiÊ-–oo Josipa, Health, Safety and Environment Sector
GrubiπiÊ Nikica, MSc., Strategy & Corporate Business
Development Sector
JeliÊ Mirko, Logistics Sector 
Kaluer KamËev Ksenija, Strategy and Corporate Business
Development Sector 
KatuliÊ Ivana, Planning, Controlling and Resource Allocation Sector
Kontent Æeljka, Human Resources Sector
KrivdiÊ IvanËica, Health, Safety and Environment Sector
Lebinec Ivanka, Health, Safety and Environment Sector
LimanoviÊ Darko, Corporate Communications Sector
LukπiÊ Dijana, Subsidiary Coordination Sector
MaduniÊ Josip, Corporate Communication Sector

MajetiÊ Boris, Chemical, Energy, Mine and General Workers’
Independent Union 
Mikuπ Boæo, INA and Oil Economy Workers’ Union
OraËiÊ Ljiljana, Planning, Controlling and Resource Allocation Sector 
OreπkoviÊ Carmen, Storage & Inventory Management Sector
PejkoviÊ Kamilka, Human Resources Sector
PeriÊ Mirko, Retail Network Management Sector
PetriËeviÊ Dragica, Health, Safety and Environment Sector 
PlaniniÊ Antonia, Human Resources Sector
Pleπa Æeljka, Human Resources Sector
PoklepoviÊ Neven Pavao, Corporate Communications Sector
Prokopec Mihaela, Human Resources Sector
RiloviÊ Maja, Workers’ Union of INA and Subsidiary Companies 
Tabak Snjeæana, Human Resources Sector
TokiÊ Anelka, Accounting and Tax Sector
TurkoviÊ Davor, Production Sector
Vinek Bojan, Corporate Communications Sector
ZrnËeviÊ Lidija, Health, Safety and Environment Sector
ZubËiÊ Vladimir, Health, Safety and Environment Sector

97 Appendices



98Third party review

Third party review

Zagreb, August 6, 2007

Upon introduction and many years of economic, environmen-
tal, and social responsibility reporting practice, INA d.d. now
presents its 2006 Sustainability Report as its first integrated
report on sustainable development and social responsibility.
This step forward coincides with important events in INA’s
business activities, but also with the release of GRI G3 - the
third generation of GRI sustainability reporting guidelines, the
previous version of which served as the basis for INA’s report-
ing. In this report, INA has applied methodological innova-
tions, and has also improved its former practice in portraying
and analysing the impact of its business practices on the com-
pany itself, as well as its key stakeholders. At the same time,
the report presents an objective picture of the achievements
and goals in the different segments of business and activities,
but also the risks and problems confronting INA and the man-
ner in which it tries to resolve them.

In 2006 as well, INA proved to be a stable, solid and profitable
organization, aspiring toward gaining leadership in the
Southeast European market of oil products, but also a com-
pany that integrates various social responsibility aspects into
its organizational structures, processes, and relations with
stakeholders. The year 2006 was marked by several major
events that significantly influenced INA/stakeholder relations.
With the continued privatisation, numerous citizens and insti-
tutional investors entered into its ownership structure, while
the listing of INA shares on the stock exchange increased
requirements in regard to reporting on major business events.
The acquisition (in consortium with MOL) of the Bosnian-
Herzegovinian petroleum company Energopetrol was a crucial
step towards INA’s positioning on the Southeast European

market, and strengthening of its partnership with MOL.
However, it also resulted in increased requirements for capital,
more efficient performance, and development of relations
with a complex structure of stakeholders in Bosnia and
Herzegovina. The present technological level of the Sisak and
Rijeka refineries may represent an economic, environmental,
and reputational risk - in addition to the risks associated with
complying to regulations, market access, environmental pro-
tection, human health, as well as reflections of these problems
in the media (e.g. the Sisak refinery air quality issue).
Therefore, refinery modernization is of key significance to the
company, and the broader environment.

Each year, since its first CSR report in 2003, INA has issued a
detailed review of its economic, environmental and social per-
formance separately. In this period, INA developed a system of
monitoring various economic, social and environmental
effects, thus providing the preconditions for a successful tran-
sition to the third generation of the GRI triple-bottom  report-
ing standard.  This report is based upon the principles, guide-
lines, and actual system of the GRI indicators. The organized
monitoring of organizational structures and processes has
enabled INA to meet the methodology requirements for the
given application level (B+). This level denotes the real current
reporting maximum of Croatian companies according to the
new methodology, due to the fact that the adjustment period
was too short to provide data monitoring for all the indicators
required in the highest application level (A+). Because of its
scope, this report ranks high within the B+ level, since the
number of indicators with no available data is relatively small.
The report parameters are clearly defined. Along with the fore-
word of the Board President, the report contains key informa-
tion regarding corporate strategy (including mission, vision
and core values), governance, relations with stakeholders, var-
ious corporate policies concerning social responsibility and



sustainable development, as well as organization, processes
and procedures supporting implementation of the business
strategy and particular policies.

In addition to the basic information on the management
approach, the report deals with applicable GRI indicators,
while available historical data have also been added to the
data for 2006. Due to the new methodology, comparison with
previous reports of INA and similar companies has also been
provided here wherever possible. 

Adjustment to new business conditions at INA, characterized
by growing demands of the many stakeholders, is progressing
gradually, and depends upon the size of the company, its own-
ership structure, strategic importance, and dominant market
position. For instance, in market relations, this would mean
regulation of the oil products selling price, while in internal
organization, it would mean a gradual restructuring. However,
the question remains to what extent will the continued priva-
tization of INA, the EU market requirements, and the move
into the market of Bosnia-Herzegovina influence possible
modifications of such an approach. From this position, INA has
also developed its approach to socially responsible perform-
ance, combining traditionally rooted aspects of its corporate
culture with novel aspects.  The central aspects of INA’s social-
ly responsible performance include taking care of its employ-
ees, and investing into the community by means of donations
and sponsorships, while new challenges primarily include
increasingly complex relations with various and numerous
stakeholders (buyers and consumers, suppliers, investors,
associations, etc.). INA’s 2006 Sustainability Report mainly
indicates positive and stable trends in the domain of quantita-
tive indicators, while particular CSR aspects are additionally
systematized. In this sense, emphasis is put on INA’s proactive
approach in its relations with consumers, joining the Global

Compact, and adoption of the Business Conduct and Ethics
Code (in January 2007). By adopting this Code, and introducing
the integral system of triple bottom line reporting, INA has
also fulfilled its commitments from previous reports. I suggest
that subsequent sustainability reports treat certain key issues
in more detail. This involves strengthening partnership rela-
tions with stakeholders, supply practices, Kyoto Protocol impli-
cations and refinery modernization, monitoring implementa-
tion of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, as well as cor-
porate governance including the Supervisory Board’s activity
and business with subsidiary companies of INA-Group.
Donations and sponsorships should be systematized more
precisely and presented by category (e.g. in table form). 

Experience so far has shown that triple bottom line reporting
is an essential component of corporate social performance.
Such an analysis is the basis upon which to communicate with
the interested public, as well as recognize the need for
changes and monitor their implementation. The INA 2006
Sustainability Report methodically analyzes the social per-
formance and identifies the key challenges for CSR improve-
ment in one of Croatia’s major business organizations. In addi-
tion to elaborating and monitoring the key issues of strategy
and social responsibility, it provides a solid basis for the com-
pany’s pro-active approach to its future development.  

Domagoj RaËiÊ, MSc.

EU Accession Negotiations - Enterprise and Industrial Policy
Chapter Working Group Member
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GRI G3 guidelines application level

of the report

Application Level: B+

G3 Profile Disclosures: 1.1, 1.2

2.1-2.10
3.1-3.13
4.1-4.17

G3 Management  Management approach disclosures 
Approach Disclosures: for each indicator category

G3 Performance Economic 6
Indicators Environmental 24

Labour 13
Human Rights 4
Society 2
Product Responsibility 5

This report has been review by a third party.
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